# Building Capacity Through Connection: Coaching in Early Learning and Care

by

Vanessa Oslie

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Education

in

School and Clinical Child Psychology

Department of Educational Psychology

University of Alberta

© Vanessa Oslie, 2020

#### Abstract

Many evidence-based programs have been established to foster and support the development of quality early education for children, however methods to transfer these programs to community practice have not been well established. Recently, coaching has emerged as an alternative to traditional professional development in an effort to transfer the benefits from research efficacy trials to community early childhood settings (Powell & Diamond, 2013). Although coaching has demonstrated effectiveness (e.g., Sheridan et al., 2010), few studies have explored the aspects of coaching that may have led to positive outcomes (Downer, 2013). The purpose of this qualitative study was to gain a deeper understanding of the practice of coaching within the context of ELC settings through an in-depth exploration of early educators' experiences of being coached. Seven female early educators were purposefully sampled and interviewed about their coaching experiences. Responses were audio-recorded and transcribed, and basic interpretative analysis guided the development of codes and categories. Early educators described coaching as a gradual process of opening up to the experience while navigating complex organizational components. Educators' description of the coaching experience also included reflections on the impact of coaching such as enhanced relationships, richer learning environments, child growth and development, and strengthened professional identities. The results from this study provide an understanding of the complex and unique environments experienced by early educators, serve to endorse coaching as a viable means of improving early education contexts, and link the process of being coached to the "intensely personal activity" (Merriam, 2020, p. ix) of learning in adulthood.

# Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my father, Bill Oslie. Your curiosity and endless thirst for knowledge was inspiring. I will forever miss our conversations and your ability to find humour, even on the darkest days.

#### Acknowledgements

To my supervisor, Dr. Veronica Smith, thank you for your invaluable guidance, endless support, and unwavering belief in me. I will forever appreciate the countless hours you devoted to this 'three-legged' journey. Thank you from the bottom of my heart.

To my supervisory committee, Barb Reid and Dr. Anna Kirova, the time and energy you have generously committed to this project is greatly appreciated. Thank you Barb Reid, for welcoming me into GRIT with warmth and enthusiasm and for making me feel apart of the beautiful community you've created.

To my mom, thank you for your unconditional love and support and for the countless prayers you made on my behalf. I am truly grateful to have you and your prayers in my corner. To the six beautiful women I am lucky enough to call my cohort, your compassion and authenticity is truly inspiring. I wouldn't have enjoyed the endless late-night cramming sessions half as much without your company and all the laughs.

Finally, to my wife, Steph, words can't even begin to express the gratitude I have for your unconditional love and support. This has not been an easy journey but you were my light in the darkness. Thank you for believing in me, and for all the fun and laughter you bring to my life each and everyday.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Study Context	3
Statement of Purpose	4
Research Questions	4
Organization of Thesis	5
Use of Acronyms and Terms Acronyms Terms	<b>5</b> 5 6
Chapter Two: Review of the Literature	7
Early Childhood Development The Role of Early Experiences in Development Social-emotional Development as Foundational to Other Aspects of Development Fostering Child Development Build Caregiver Skills. Improve the Quality of the Broader Caregiving Environment. Establish Clear Goals and Appropriately Targeted Curricula.	<b>7</b> 7 9 11 11 12 13
<b>Transferring Research to Early Learning and Care Settings</b> Adult Learning and Knowles' Theory of Andragogy Professional Development (PD) in Early Learning and Care Coaching as a Professional Development Delivery Option	<b>14</b> 14 16 17
Summary	18
Chapter Three: Methodology	19
Methodology	19
Background of Researcher	20
Method Study Context Figure 1 Figure 2 Selection Criteria and Participant Recruitment Data Collection Data Analysis	<b>22</b> 23 23 23 23 24
Data Analysis	26

Trustworthiness of the Study	27
Ethical Considerations	28
Chapter Four: Findings	30
Participants	30
Research Question One: Themes Opening Up to Coaching Organizational Components	<b>33</b> 34 38
<b>Research Question Two: Themes</b> Building Connection Nurturing Environment Room to Grow	<b>40</b> 41 48 52
Chapter Five: Discussion	56
Opening Up to Coaching: Progressing Through the Stages of Change	57
The Role of Organizational Drivers in the Coaching Experience	60
Building Competence and Strengthening Connections	61
Fostering Growth through More Nurturing Environments	63
Room to Grow	65
Limitations	68
Directions for Future Research	69
Implications for Practice	71
Conclusion	72
References	74
Appendix A	88
Research Participation Consent Form	88
Appendix B	91
Interview Protocol: ASaP Educators	91

# List of Tables

- Table 1. Frequency of Educator Coaching Experiences Themes39
- Table 2. Frequency of Educator Perceived Impact of Coaching Themes45

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Pyramid Model	23
Figure 2. Practice-based Coaching Model	23

#### **Chapter One: Introduction**

Early development occurs in the first few years of life and lays the foundation upon which all other learning and behaviour are built (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016). The importance of the early years cannot be underestimated. We know from numerous longitudinal studies that deficits in early development, particularly social and emotional development, are associated with a wide range of adverse psychosocial outcomes later in life including lower levels of educational achievement, higher rates of unemployment, mental health problems, criminality, substance use behaviours, and intimate relationship difficulties (Campbell, 1995; Champion et al., 1995; Fergusson et al., 2005; McLeod & Kaiser, 2004; Morgan et al., 2002). Given the role that early development plays in shaping life trajectories, it is imperative that children are provided with the experiences and opportunities required for optimal growth.

In the Canadian context, there is a cause for concern regarding child development in the early years. Recently published reports from the Canadian Institute of Child Health (CICH; 2017), indicate that 1 in 4 Canadian children who enter Kindergarten do not meet age-appropriate developmental expectations in one or more areas of development, including cognitive, social, emotional, and physical development. Of these children, 43% demonstrate additional deficits in emotional development with 7.1% of children between the ages of two to five years reported to exhibit symptoms consistent with an emotional disorder (CICH, 2017).

Other trends in child development in recent decades have seen an increase in the number of families utilizing childcare services (Statistics Canada, 2012). Fifty-five percent of Canadians use some form of childcare arrangement; the most common form of childcare arrangements accessed by families is daycare or preschool (Statistics Canada, 2012), otherwise known as early learning and care (ELC). Additionally, 70% of children below the age of five spend time in care, and 60% of children accessing ELC spend a minimum of 30 hours a week in care (Statistics Canada, 2012). Given these findings, it is evident that a large number of children are spending a significant amount of their early developmental years in care settings and these settings are now seen by researchers and policymakers as a natural and critical site to foster healthy development.

Accordingly, researchers in early childhood development have established a wide array of evidence-based models and practices to foster healthy development (e.g., Bierman et al., 2008; Hemmeter et al., 2016; Raver et al., 2008; Sheridan et al., 2010). However, too frequently a "train and hope" approach is adopted as a method to bring research to practice in which early childhood educators receive brief training and are then assumed to implement new practices reliably (Hemmeter et al., 2016). This approach alone produces little change in educator practices (Powell & Diamond, 2013). As an alternative, coaching has been identified as an effective mechanism with which to bring evidence-based practices to community settings (Artman-Meeker & Hemmeter, 2013; Barton et al, 2013; Metz et al., 2007). Coaching is described as a provision of ongoing collaborative support through activities such as identifying goals, action planning, focused observation, reflection, and feedback (Snyder et al., 2015). Coaching has been associated with changes in educators' practices, increases in educators' selfefficacy, and positive child outcomes (Barton et al., 2013; Hemmeter et al., 2016).

Although coaching has been demonstrated to be an effective mechanism to transfer research to practice, coaching within ELC settings is relatively new and there is much more to be understood regarding the experience of coaching (Downer, 2013). Gaining a deeper understanding of how educators experience coaching within ELC settings will contribute to our understanding of coaching as a whole and the potential it has to improve educators' capacity to support all children.

# **Study Context**

*Getting Ready for Inclusion Today (GRIT)* is a non-profit organization that provides programs to support the inclusion of children with special needs in Alberta. *GRIT* initiated the *Access, Supports and Participation (ASaP)* project in May 2012 with the aim to: 1) Build early childhood educators' capacity to use evidence-based professional practices to create high quality, responsive environments, intentionally teach social and emotional development, and respond to challenging behaviours 2) Facilitate and foster navigation of cross-ministerial systems to access supports; 3) Create sustainability through leadership development, family engagement, and inclusive policy.

Researchers have developed a wide array of evidence-based programs and practices to foster healthy development within ELC settings (e.g., Bierman et al., 2008; Hemmeter et al., 2016; Raver et a., 2008; Sheridan et al., 2010). The program model adopted by *ASaP* is Fox and colleagues' (2011) evidence-based *Pyramid Model (PM)*<sup>1</sup> from the *Center for Social and Emotional Foundations for Early Learning (CSEFEL)*. The *PM* comprises four components that address the social and emotional needs of all young children, including those with challenging behaviour. The first two components (responsive relationships, high-quality environments) are considered the 'universal level' and include practices that would be implemented with all children in a classroom. The third component (targeted social-emotional supports) offers secondary 'preventive practices' designed to address the needs of children at risk for problem behaviour. The fourth component (intensive intervention) includes practices to support

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The *PM* was initially introduced as the Teaching Pyramid Model (Fox et al., 2003) ; in 2019 it was rebranded by the developers as the 'Pyramid Model' (National Centre for Pyramid Model Innovations; NCPMI; www.pyramidmodel.org)

individualized intervention' for children with the most severe and persistent challenging behaviour.

It is important to note that the *PM* is described as a framework, rather than a curriculum (Hemmeter et al., 2013). This indicates that the authors of the *PM* recognized that early learning centres differ from location to location and prevention and intervention efforts must adapt to these varying conditions. For this reason, the *PM* framework was ideal for adoption by *ASaP*, who recognized that the demographic characteristics of regions around Alberta vary considerably. This variability influences many factors such as early educator support needed to implement the program in each early childhood setting. The *PM* outlines a series of activities that support the implementation of the model including workshops, materials, implementation guides, and coaching. The role that coaching plays in the delivery of *ASaP* was the focus of the present study.

## **Statement of Purpose**

The purpose of this qualitative study is to gain a deeper understanding of how early educators experience coaching as a method to improve their ability to enhance the social and emotional development of children in early childhood settings. Specific research questions are as follows:

#### **Research Questions**

- What is the experience of being coached to improve teaching practices aimed at enhancing the quality of early learning and care?
- 2. What are the early educators' perceived impact of coaching to improve teaching practices aimed at enhancing the development of children?

# **Organization of Thesis**

This thesis is arranged into five chapters. The present chapter, chapter one, provides an overview of the thesis. Chapter two reviews the literature to provide a rationale for the study and describes the context in which the study was conducted. Chapter three describes the methodology, including a detailed description of the data collection, analysis, and ethical considerations. Chapter four provides a description of the participants and the themes that emerged from each of the two research questions. The final chapter presents a discussion of the implications of the findings and limitations of the study, as well as directions for future research.

#### Use of Acronyms and Terms

In order to ensure clarity, a brief description of the terms used within this document will be outlined.

#### Acronyms

*ASaP*: The acronym *ASaP* is used when referring to the *Access, Support, and Participation* program delivered by *GRIT*.

ELC: Early learning and care (ELC) refers to childcare for children ages zero to 5 years, and may include preschool programming. The majority of the ELC centres included in this study were daycare centres that provided preschool programming.

*GRIT*: The acronym *GRIT* is used when referring to the community organization *Getting Ready for Inclusion Today*.

PD: Professional Development (PD) refers to facilitated teaching and learning experiences that are designed to support the acquisition of professional knowledge and skills.

*PM*: The acronym PM is used when referring to the *Pyramid Model for Supporting Social Emotional Competence in Infants and Young Children*: A program, adopted by *ASaP*, that focuses on promoting the social, emotional, and behavioural outcomes of young children birth to five, reducing the use of inappropriate discipline practices, promoting family engagement, using data for decision-making, integrating early childhood and infant mental health consultation and fostering inclusion.

*TPOT*: The *Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool (TPOT)* is a classroom observation measure used to examine the absence or presence of Pyramid Model practices.

#### Terms

Coach: The term coach is used in two ways: 1) in reference to the coach, as a role, (i.e., people who assist others to analyze their performance and who provide mentoring and support), and 2) in reference to the *ASaP* Coaches within the study. To distinguish between the general and specific use of the term coach, the author has chosen to capitalize the term when referring directly to the participants' Coach.

Educator: The term educator is used in two ways: 1) in reference to staff within ELC centres that work directly with children, and 2) in reference to the participants in the study. To distinguish between the general and specific use of the term educator, the author has chosen to capitalize the term when referring directly to the Educators participating in this study.

Researcher: In this document, the researcher is referred to as the researcher and the author.

#### **Chapter Two: Review of the Literature**

This chapter reviews the relevant literature to provide a rationale for the research. The chapter begins with a brief overview of the activities of early development drawing heavily on the research synthesized by the Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University, established by Jack Shonkoff in 2006. Particular attention is paid to the importance of the ELC setting in fostering healthy social-emotional development. A review of coaching as a professional development delivery option will be offered and grounded in adult learning theory. Finally, the literature review is summarized to provide a rationale for the present study.

#### **Early Childhood Development**

# The Role of Early Experiences in Development

Early childhood development refers to a period within the first few years of life in which a child undergoes significant physical, cognitive, social, and emotional growth (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016). Early childhood is largely understood within developmental research as a critical time in human development as it involves periods of rapid and significant neurological growth and structuring. We have come to understand that neurological development lays the foundation for all other learning and behaviour (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016). During the first few years of life, the brain undergoes a process called synaptic proliferation in which new synapses, or neurological pathways, are produced at an astounding rate (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016; Tierney & Nelson, 2009). These pathways enable communication throughout the brain and essentially form the biological basis for learning and development (Tierney & Nelson, 2009). Following the rapid overproduction of synapses, a process called synaptic pruning occurs in which inactive or weak synapses are eliminated, enabling more active brain circuits to become stronger and more efficient (Casey et al., 2005; Centre on the Developing Child, 2016; Pfefferbaum et al., 1994). The process of synaptic pruning is primarily environmentally driven and largely dependent on individual experiences (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016). In other words, an individuals' environment and an individual's interactions with their environment activate synapses in relevant regions of the brain subsequently strengthening these connections and ensuring their survival while unused or weak synapses are eventually eliminated. Therefore, the developing brain is shaped by an individual's early experiences (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016). Importantly, research has identified that neurological functioning is built from the bottom up, with more complex connections being built upon simpler connections. In other words, the brain relies on the acquisition of simpler skills and behaviours upon which to build more complex ones, further emphasising the role early experiences play in shaping the basis of all other learning and development (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016).

Early experiences shape the neurological framework that is the very basis of physical, cognitive, behavioural, social, and emotional functioning. Social-emotional development, for example, is interconnected with the development of the prefrontal cortex, an area of the brain responsible for higher-order processes such as executive functioning and self-regulation (Casey, et al., 2005; Centre on the Developing Child, 2016). As the prefrontal cortex is largely responsible for higher-order processes, the prefrontal cortex undergoes synaptic proliferation and pruning for longer than other areas in the brain, with the most developmental activity occurring between the ages of two and six years (Casey, et al., 2005; Thompson & Nelson, 2001). The nature of this process suggests that the window for early experiences to shape the development of the prefrontal cortex is open for longer than it is for lower-order systems, with experiences between the ages of two and six having higher potential to shape its development (Centre on the

Developing Child, 2016). The higher-order processes operating within the prefrontal cortex rely on the integration and regulation of information transmitted through neurological pathways from lower-level systems (e.g., sensory systems) in order to acquire and perform more complex skills such as the ability to sustain attention, follow rules, set goals, solve problems, and control impulses (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016). Early experiences that disrupt the development of these neurological pathways and subsequently the development of these higherorder processes (e.g., self-regulation and executive functioning), weaken the foundational capacities essential to developing social-emotional competence (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016).

#### Social-emotional Development as Foundational to Other Aspects of Development

Social-emotional competence has been defined in a variety of ways over the years and there is no consensus within the literature regarding one clear definition (CASEL, 2015; Denham, et al., 2014; Humphrey, et al., 2011; Izard, 2011; Jones & Bouffard, 2012; Rose-Kraznor, 1997). Although definitions and frameworks vary, it is evident that social-emotional competence is a multidimensional construct that includes skills related to self-awareness (i.e., the ability to recognize one's emotions), self-management (i.e., the ability to regulate one's emotions), social awareness (i.e., the ability to take the perspective of others), relationship skills (i.e., the ability to establish healthy relationships), and responsible decision making (i.e., the ability to make constructive decisions) (CASEL, 2015; Denham, et al., 2014; Jones & Bouffard, 2012). As such, social-emotional competence can be viewed as the acquisition of higher-level skills that rely heavily on the development of the prefrontal cortex in early childhood (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016).

Longitudinal studies of children indicate that deficits in social and emotional development are associated with a wide range of adverse psychosocial outcomes later in life including lower levels of educational achievement, higher rates of unemployment, mental health problems, criminality, substance use behaviours, and intimate relationship difficulties (e.g., Jones et al., 2015; MacCann, et al., 2020; Moffitt et al., 2011; Robson et al., 2020). For example, Jones et al. (2015) reported statistically significant associations between social-emotional skills in kindergarten and key young adult outcomes across multiple domains. Early social-emotional competence was positively associated with the completion of high school on time, the acquisition of a college degree, full-time employment, and stable employment (Jones, et al., 2015). Furthermore, social-emotional competence in kindergarten was negatively associated with the number of years of special education services received, the number of repeated grades through high school, the receipt of public assistance, involvement with police, and substance abuse behaviour (Jones et al., 2015).

Results from Jones et al.'s (2015) study are consistent with findings from recent metaanalyses examining social-emotional skills in early childhood and its prediction of later academic, psychological, social, and physical outcomes (e.g., Compas et al., 2018; MacCann, et al., 2020; Robson, et al., 2020; Smithers, et al., 2018). For example, Robson and colleague's (2020) meta-analysis reported that higher levels of self-regulation in early childhood were associated with higher levels of academic achievement and social competence, and a decreased likelihood of long-term unemployment and risk of peer victimization later in life. Robson and colleagues (2020) also reported that early self-regulation skills are related to fewer externalizing problems (i.e., overt disruptive behaviours such as physical aggression, stealing, destruction of property, etc.), fewer internalizing problems (i.e., internal psychological states related to depression and anxiety, among other things), and a decreased likelihood of substance abuse later in life. Most significantly however, Robson and colleagues (2020) found that poor selfregulation at age seven can predict aggressive behaviour, mental health issues, and reported symptoms of physical illness as far as 30 years later in life.

# Fostering Child Development

Understanding that early development is largely shaped by early experiences and that these experiences serve to lay the foundation for all other learning and development later in life emphasises the need to understand what type of experiences promote and impede healthy development. Research has demonstrated that negative and aversive environments in which children are not well-nourished, are exposed to toxic substances, or deprived of appropriate sensory, emotional, and social experiences, to be associated with deficits in children's development (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016). Alternatively, children exposed to growthpromoting environments with adequate nutrition, rich learning experiences, and nurturing interactions with responsive caregivers has been associated with healthy development (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016). With this understanding, The Centre on the Developing Child (2016) outlined five key characteristics aimed at enriching the child's environment that have been associated with positive developmental outcomes: 1) Build caregiver skills; 2) Match interventions to sources of significant stress; 3) Support the health and nutrition of children and mothers before, during, and after pregnancy; 4) Improve the quality of the broader caregiving environment, and; 5) Establish clear goals and appropriately targeted curricula. Only the first, fourth, and fifth characteristics are relevant to this research and are elaborated on below.

**Build Caregiver Skills.** Significant attention has been paid to the importance of the caregiver-child relationship and its role in shaping child development (Centre on the Developing

Child, 2016). The caregiver-child relationship is central to a child's development and is characterized by reciprocal, "serve and return" interactions in which children reach out for interaction and adults who are responsive 'return' the child's 'serve' with similar engagement as the "serve and return" behaviour continues (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016, p. 8). Research has demonstrated that when an adult's responses, or 'returns', are unreliable, inappropriate, or absent, they have the potential to disrupt development and impair later learning and behaviour (Broekhuize, et al., 2016; Burchinal, et al., 2008; Centre on the Developing Child, 2016). Furthermore, 'serve and return' interactions are not isolated to the parent-child relationship; rather, children benefit when they occur between the child and all adults who play important roles in their lives, including teachers. The first characteristic of enriching the child's environment, 'Build Caregiver Skills', highlights the importance of the caregiver-child relationship and the need to strengthen caregiver skills essential for providing the stability and responsiveness that fosters healthy child development. One of the ways caregiver skills are strengthened is through "the provision of professional development for teachers and caregivers", and more specifically professional development conducted within a "trusting relationship and the ongoing availability of an on-site mentor" (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016, p. 20).

Improve the Quality of the Broader Caregiving Environment. Research has emphasised the importance of establishing a safe, stable, and nurturing environment in promoting children's development (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016; Lehrl, Kluczniok, & Rossbach, 2015; Schmitt, et al., 2018). More specifically, language-rich environments with warm and responsive caregiver-child interactions and learning experiences situated within settings that are structured and safe have been identified as key factors for high quality childcare (Broekhuizen, et al., 2016; Centre on the Developing Child, 2016; Hamre, et al., 2014). With a growing number of children accessing ELC, significant attention has been directed towards assessing and improving the quality of the early learning environment (Broekhuizen, et al., 2016; CASEL, 2015; Conners-Burrow, et al., 2017; Hamre, 2014; Hemmeter, et al., 2016; Nix, et al., 2016; Oberle, et al., 2015; Phillips et al., 2009; Pianta, et al., 2005, Raver, et al., 2008; Schindler, et al., 2015). In spite of these efforts, the quality of ELC environments has been demonstrated to vary greatly, with studies consistently reporting 40-50% of early learning centres' qualities insufficient to support healthy development (Clifford, et al., 2005; Goelman, et al., 2000; Howes, et al., 2008; Palsha & Wesley, 1998; Schmitt, et al., 2018). The recognition that establishing growth-promoting environments contributes to optimal early development has led to increased efforts to understand how these environments can be improved.

Establish Clear Goals and Appropriately Targeted Curricula. Research has demonstrated that children's development is best supported when goals are clearly defined and a framework or intervention designed to achieve those goals is implemented (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016). Fortunately, a wide range of evidence-based frameworks and interventions have been developed to support and foster children's social-emotional development in the classroom setting (CASEL, 2015; Hamre, et al., 2014; Hemmeter, et al., 2016; Nix, et al., 2016; Kruglaya, 2014; Strain & Bovey, 2011). Although differences in implementation, structure, and content exist, the vast majority of classroom interventions and frameworks target social-emotional development through: 1) the development of responsive, nurturing teacherchild relationship; 2) the establishment of secure, stable, and rich learning environments, and; 3) the implementation of instructional practices targeting social-emotional skills. Notably, these common characteristics are in line with the key characteristics outlined by the Centre on the Developing Child (2016) as vital for fostering healthy child-development (i.e., to build caregiver skills, improve the quality of the broader caregiving environment, and establish clear goals and appropriately targeted curricula).

Fox and colleagues' (2003) *Pyramid Model* (*PM*) is one example of the many evidencebased interventions and frameworks developed to target social-emotional skills in children. The *PM* is a framework that provides guidance to educators on using appropriately targeted behaviour supports and instructional practices that are strongly situated in research (Hemmeter et al., 2013). The *PM* has been associated with improvements in educator practices, gains in child social skills, and reductions in children's challenging behaviours (Artman-Meeker & Hemmeter, 2013; Artman-Meeker et al., 2014; Fox, et al., 2011; Hemmeter, et al., 2016).

Despite curricular innovations provided through research efforts, significant variability continues to exist in the quality of ELC centres in community settings. Thus, researchers have begun to turn their attention to how to best transfer successful research efforts into practice. The efficacy of the professional development practices employed to transfer evidence-based practices to community settings has been called into question (Halle et al., 2013; Howes et al., 2012).

# **Transferring Research to Early Learning and Care Settings**

# Adult Learning and Knowles' Theory of Andragogy

Adult learning theories describe the conditions under which processes of learning are optimized (Merriam et al., 2007). Knowles' (1980) theory of andragogy was one of the earliest theories to differentiate adult learning from pedagogy and remains one of the most well-known and robust theories in adult-learning today (Merriam, et al., 2020). Knowles' (1980) theory of andragogy was originally based on four assumptions about the adult learner, however Knowles (1984) later expanded his theory to include a total of six assumptions. Knowles' (1980) first assumption emphasises the autonomous nature of the adult learner and suggests adults learn

more effectively when learning is self-directed. Second, Knowles (1980) acknowledges the accumulation of experience over time and claims that this "growing reservoir" (Merriam et. al., 2020, p. 118) serves as a resource for learning. Third, Knowles (1980) claims that an adult's readiness to learn is closely tied to the developmental tasks of their social role. Fourth, adults learn more effectively when the content is relevant and immediately applicable; therefore, learning is optimized when it is problem-centred and applicable as opposed to subject-centred and theoretical. Knowles' (1984) later two assumptions claim that learning is optimized when the adult is internally motivated to learn and clearly understands the purpose of their learning.

It is evident that Knowles viewed these assumptions as foundational blocks around which to centre developmental programs for adults. For example, when looking at the first assumption, recognizing the self-directed nature of the adult learner emphasises learning environments that encourage learners to take an active role in the learning process, including self-planning, selfmonitoring, and self-evaluation (Merrriam, et al., 2020). By acknowledging accumulated experience as a resource in his second assumption, Knowles emphasises experiential techniques, practical application, and collaboration in learning (Merriam et. al., 2020; Thompson & Deis, 2004). Knowles's third assumption around readiness to learn emphasises the importance of assessment and feedback in ensuring the learner is achieving the desired goals and that the content is developmentally appropriate within their current role. The fourth assumption emphasises the importance of content that is immediately relevant and applicable to each individual learner. Knowles' (1984) last two assumptions emphasise the importance of understanding the learner's goals and motivations while ensuring the learning process and rationale are clearly outlined.

# Professional Development (PD) in Early Learning and Care

PD has been defined as "facilitated teaching and learning experiences that are transactional and designed to support the acquisition of professional knowledge, skills, and dispositions as well as the application of this knowledge in practice" (National Professional Development Center on Inclusion, 2008, p. 3). PD is delivered in a wide variety of formats with the most common delivery formats consisting of conferences and workshops, in-service training, online instruction, professional learning communities, and coaching (State et al., 2019). PD in early childhood education is most commonly delivered through "one-shot" training formats such as conferences and workshops, in which participants engage in intensive professional development activities over a short period of time (i.e., often one to three days) without additional follow-up or support (Snyder, et al., 2015; State, et al., 2019). Yet, there is robust literature indicating that PD is most effective when it consists of ongoing support and activities that are sustained over time (Albritton, et al., 2018; Alkon, et al., 2003; Birman, et al., 2000; Bransford, et al., 2000; Buysse, et al., 2009; Centre on the Developing Child, 2016; Darling-Hammond, et al., 2017; Dunst, 2015; Schachter, et al., 2019; Snyder, et al., 2015; State, et al., 2019). Research also indicates that PD activities should be content-focused, centering on specific curricula, interventions, or teaching practices as opposed to general teaching methods such as lesson planning (e.g., Artman-Meeker, et al., 2015). Additionally, PD activities are most effective when they provide opportunities for the learner to both observe and practice the skills being taught within the environment where the skills are to be implemented (e.g., Pianta & Hamre, 2020). PD activities should also be learner-centred with the provision of ongoing supportive visits from a skilled facilitator, allowing opportunities for the learner to reflect on and receive performance-based feedback (e.g., Darling-Hammond, et. al., 2017). Finally, the

development of collaborative relationships not only between the learner and their facilitator but also between the learner and their peers has been identified as an essential factor in effective PD (e.g., Buysse, et. al., 2009). These key features of professional development are in-line with Knowles' theory of andragogy and endorse a theory informed approach to adult learning.

#### Coaching as a Professional Development Delivery Option

PD formats continue to evolve over time as new research comes to light and technology advances. More recently, coaching as a PD format has emerged within the literature as an effective means for enhancing educator's implementation of evidence-based practices. Coaching has been defined by the NAEYC (2012) as an ongoing relationship-based process led by an expert to build a practitioner's capacity for specific professional dispositions, skills, and behaviours. In early childhood, Rush and Shelden (2011) were among the first to describe key characteristics of effective coaching: (1) Joint Planning: the educator and coach jointly decide on the agenda for the visit; (2) Observation: the coach observes the educator's implementation of evidence-based strategies; (3) Action/Practice: opportunities for the educator to practice targeted practice with side by side support or modeling from the coach; (4) Reflection: the coach facilitates educator reflection with open-ended questions or comments on practices; (5) Feedback: the coach provides the educator with supportive or constructive feedback. It is evident that Rush and Sheldon (2011) draw heavily on adult learning principles and research-informed practices to describe the key characteristics of effective coaching.

In educational settings, coaching has been associated with changes in educators' practices, (Barton et al., 2013) increases in educators' self-efficacy, (Barton et al., 2013) and positive child outcomes, (Hemmeter et al., 2016). Although coaching has been demonstrated to be an effective tool in transferring evidenced based practices to real-world practice, coaching

within ELC settings remains relatively new and there is much more to be understood regarding the coaching experience (Downer, 2013). A literature review by Artman-Meeker and colleagues (2015) concluded that, "One critical component of coaching that has not been systematically examined in the research is the collaborative partnership between the coach and the coachee. This partnership is likely critical to the fidelity and quality of the implementation of coaching" (p. 193). Gaining a deeper understanding of how early educators experience coaching within ELC settings will contribute to our understanding of coaching as a whole and the potential it has to improve educators' capacity to support all children in early childhood settings.

## **Summary**

In summary to this section, it has been well established that experiences in the early childhood period are important for life outcomes. Early experiences shape the neurological foundation essential for healthy child development, including social-emotional development. Deficits in social-emotional development have been linked to a wide array of adverse psychosocial outcomes later in life. Early childhood settings are now seen as an ideal site to foster healthy child development and as such, researchers have established many promising practices that enhance child development in these settings. Transferring these practices to ELC settings requires a thoughtful approach to professional development that is grounded in adult learning principles. Coaching is seen as a PD delivery option that emphasises experiential techniques, practical application, and collaboration in learning. The present research will explore: 1) early educators' experience of being coached and, 2) their perceived impact of coaching to improve teaching practices aimed at enhancing the development of children.

#### **Chapter Three: Methodology**

This chapter presents the study design used to explore early educators' experiences of being coached. The chapter begins with an introduction to basic qualitative research and an explanation as to why this methodology was best suited to explore the research questions posed in this study. Subsequent sections outline the background of the researcher, the context of the study, the selection of participants, procedures for data collection and analysis, and strategies used to ensure trustworthiness of the study findings. Finally, ethical considerations for this study are described.

# Methodology

This study relied upon a qualitative methodology to facilitate exploration of early educators' experiences being coached. Qualitative research is most appropriate when a researcher seeks to understand a process and shed light on thus far unspecified contextual variables (Marshall & Rossman, 2006). As the current study's aim was to deepen our understanding of coaching, a process to build educators' capacity to implement evidence-based practices, a qualitative methodology was utilized. In particular, a basic qualitative research design was employed to guide the sampling, data collection, and analyses for this study. Basic qualitative research is a method that permits the researcher to gain an understanding of people's experiences through uncovering their interpretations and the meaning they ascribe to these events (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). A central characteristic of basic qualitative research is social constructivism; the belief that reality is socially constructed through individuals' interpretations of their interactions with others and through historical and cultural norms operating within the individual (Creswell, 2013; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Therefore, basic qualitative research assumes there is not one observable reality, rather multiple realities as individuals construct

subjective meanings from their interactions and experiences (Creswell, 2013; Merriam & Tisdell 2016). The goal of basic qualitative research is to uncover and interpret the meanings constructed to understand how individuals make sense of their lives and their experiences (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Therefore, basic qualitative research was deemed appropriate to permit the author to gain a deeper understanding of coaching in ELC through uncovering the constructed meanings and experiences of educators being coached.

# **Background of Researcher**

Inherent to qualitative research is the reliance on the researcher as the primary instrument for data collection and analysis. Therefore, it is essential that the researcher reflects on their biases, dispositions, and assumptions and considers the role these beliefs and perspectives play in shaping the collection and interpretation of data (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Additionally, it is just as important that the researcher clarify these biases and perspectives to the reader in order for the reader to understand how the researcher's perceptual lens may have influenced the conduct and conclusions of the study (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Therefore, the present section will clarify the researchers' background and perceptual lens.

The author has completed an undergraduate degree in Psychology and is currently pursuing graduate studies in the field of school and clinical child psychology. The author has experience working with preschool-aged children as both an educational assistant and an interventionist. Each of these roles involved adopting and implementing evidence-based practices and interventions in both ELC and one to one (i.e., home or clinical) settings. Additionally, these roles included the provision of ongoing and continuous support from relevant professionals (e.g., behavioural consultant, psychologist, speech and language pathologist, etc.). The author's experience in these roles and settings provided insight around the complexities of transferring evidence-based practices to ELC settings, and the challenges inherent to working with children (i.e., the navigation of various relevant relationships). Additionally, these experiences with children sparked an interest in early social-emotional development and motivated the author to pursue further education and research experience in the field of school and child psychology. During graduate studies, the author had the opportunity to work collaboratively with elementary, junior high, and high school educators in an effort to support students' development within the classroom. This experience once again emphasized the challenges faced when transferring evidence-based practices to the classroom setting and served to highlight the importance of establishing a trusting and collaborative relationship with educators to facilitate change.

Finally, the author would like to acknowledge extensive experience in high level athletics. The author has competed in provincial, national, and collegiate level championships and was committed to a nationally competitive sport team. It would be amiss not to recognize the role a lifetime within competitive sports plays in the author's conceptualization and understanding of the experience of being coached and what it is to be a coach. According to Rush and Shelden (2011) who wrote one of the most commonly referenced books on coaching in early childhood, *The Early Childhood Coach Handbook*, "coaching is most commonly associated with its use in athletic settings, in which the coach instructs and motivates the athletes and calls the plays that they should implement" (p. 2). In athletics, to this author, the success of coaching was moderated by the degree to which the coach established a trusting relationship with the players. As in the transactional view of development (Sameroff & McKenzie, 2003), the author acknowledges that coaching relationships are not immediate but rather they are dynamic,

they evolve and they are impacted by the changing characteristics of the player and the corresponding changes and response of the coach, all of which are situated within an-ever changing environment. Development occurs within these continuous dynamic interactions within the social context (Sameroff, 2010).

# Method

# Study Context

The present study is situated within a larger study and is a collaboration with the community organization GRIT. Through its ASaP program, GRIT has adopted the PM framework and has been coaching educators to implement it in ELC centres across Alberta for the past eight years. The *PM* comprises four tiers of implementation practices that address the social and emotional needs of all young children, including those with challenging behaviour (Figure 1). The first two tiers (responsive relationships, high-quality environments) are considered the 'universal level' and include practices that would be implemented with all children in a classroom. The third tier (targeted social-emotional supports) offers secondary 'preventive practices' designed to address the needs of children at risk for problem. The fourth, and last, tier (intensive intervention) includes practices to support 'individualized intervention' for children with the most severe and persistent challenging behaviour. ASaP is training educators to implement the Pyramid model through the provision of practice-based coaching (Figure 2). Practice-based coaching is described as a provision of ongoing collaborative support through activities such as identifying goals, action planning, focused observation, reflection, and feedback (Snyder et al., 2015). Educators participating in the ASaP program are intended to receive in-person coaching twice monthly, however this frequency has been known to vary depending on individual, and organizational and logistical factors that impact the scheduling of coaching sessions. In total,

seven educators and eight coaches participating in *ASaP* were sampled and interviewed regarding their experiences with coaching in 2016. For the scope of this study, only the educator interviews were analysed and interpreted to address the research question.

#### Figure 1

Pyramid Model (National Centre for Pyramid Model Innovations, n.d.(a))



# Figure 2

Practice-based Coaching (National Centre for Pyramid Model Innovations, n.d.(b))



# Selection Criteria and Participant Recruitment

Purposeful sampling was utilized to gain an in-depth understanding of coaching in ELC. Purposeful sampling is not random, rather it allows for the researcher to select a sample of information-rich cases, cases that directly reflect the purpose of the study and from which the most can be learned (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The inclusion criteria for participants were as follows: (1) educator, (2) employed within early learning and care, and (3) previous or current participation in *ASaP*. The participating Educators were female and ranged in age from 25 to 55 years. Two of the seven Educators represented visual minorities, while the other five Educators did not. The Educators' experience in ELC ranged from three to 25 years and their level of education ranged from early childhood diplomas to a graduate degree. At the time of the interview, two Educators had been participating in *ASaP* for a year or less, one Educator had been participating for two years, two Educators had been participating for three years, and another two Educators had been participating for four years.

Participants were recruited with the distribution of a package consisting of a letter outlining the study and a consent form to be completed by interested individuals (Appendix A). The study information packages were distributed in-person at two *GRIT* in-service events and via emails to the directors of participating ELC centres. Interested individuals provided their contact information either in-person (i.e., at *GRIT* events) or via the email provided on the study information letter. Interested individuals were then contacted via email and a date and time to conduct the interview was arranged.

## **Data Collection**

Educators participated in a one-to-one, semi-structured interview of approximately 45 to 75 minutes in length. All interviews were conducted in person from May to June 2016. Interviews were held at each Educators' respective ELC centre in a private room.

An interview protocol was developed in collaboration with the larger project research team and the *ASaP* leadership team (i.e., *GRIT* Executive Director and *ASaP* Project Manager) that consisted of 13 open-ended questions and corresponding prompts designed to stimulate Educators' reflection on the coaching provided within *ASaP* (Appendix B). Of the 13 questions, two questions (numbers 10 and 11) were not included in data analysis because they involved another aspect of the study (i.e., Navigational Supports provided to Educators). All participants received a copy of the interview protocol via email prior to their scheduled interview. This permitted Educators the opportunity to reflect on the questions and their responses decreasing the likelihood of things being left unsaid. Although member checks were not conducted due to time constraints, the provision of the interview protocol to participants a-priori may have increased the likelihood that their responses were reflective of their actual experiences, as all participants came prepared to the interview with some form of hand-written notes and/or drawings.

Interviews began with an introduction and a review of informed consent regardless that written consent had been obtained prior to the interview. Once informed consent was obtained a brief review of the interview process was conducted in which participants were informed of their right to decline a response or cease the interview for any reason, at any point in time. Participants were then asked to engage in a "warm-up" activity that requested them to reflect on what images or words come to mind when they thought about *ASaP*. This less structured activity provided an opportunity for the researcher to develop rapport and delivered insight around meaningful aspects of the participant's coaching experiences. All interviews were audio-recorded; in addition, the researcher paraphrased and documented participants' responses and created field notes of the researchers' own comments and impressions during and after each interview. Upon completing the interview, participants were shown appreciation for their involvement in the study with a University of Alberta water bottle and a hand-written thank you note. Participant demographic information was obtained from digital surveys completed as part of the larger study within which this study is situated.

## Data Analysis

The interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim. All interviews were uploaded into NVivo 12 Pro, a computer software program designed to facilitate qualitative data analysis. Basic qualitative data analysis is primarily inductive and comparative. As such, the researcher makes meaning out of the data (i.e., codes) and continuously compares codes and themes to identify similarities, differences and reoccurrences (Corbin & Strauss, 2008; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The author began with a preliminary exploratory analysis of the data which consisted of reading through each interview transcript in its entirety and noting general comments, observations, and queries in the margins. This exploratory analysis was discussed with another researcher engaged in the study for peer review. This process allowed the author to gain a general sense of the data as a whole before breaking it into parts (Creswell, 2012). Next, the author conducted open-coding, a process of line-by-line coding which involved identifying and labeling units of data (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Units of data are segments of text that reveal information relevant to the study and are the smallest piece of information that can stand by itself (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Each unit of text was labeled with a code that described its meaning. Following open-coding, the author engaged in axial coding in which codes were compared to each other and grouped, based on a shared quality or meaning, into categories (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Categories are conceptual elements that capture many units of data (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The categories were further compared and grouped in a similar manner creating superordinate and subordinate categories. In the final stage of analysis, the author engaged in selective coding, a process of identifying core categories, or themes, that reflected recurring patterns that characterized the data (Corbin & Strauss, 2008; Merriam &

Tisdell, 2016). Portions of this coding described above were selected for peer review to ensure findings were consistent and credible.

#### **Trustworthiness of the Study**

Methodological rigour in qualitative research is the extent to which the researcher ensured trustworthiness of the study through addressing the credibility, consistency, and transferability of the study findings, known in quantitative research as internal validity, reliability, and external validity. The following section outlines the steps taken to ensure trustworthiness of the study and its interpretations.

In order to address the credibility, consistency, and transferability of the study's findings, the researcher employed five strategies as recommended by Merriam (2016). The first three strategies relate to the study's credibility and consistency. First, the researcher employed reflexivity throughout data collection and analysis. Reflexivity is the awareness of the influence the researcher has on what is being studied and how the research process affects the researcher (Probst & Berenson, 2014). Throughout the data collection process, the researcher identified and monitored personal biases, perceptions, and assumptions through reflective discussions with an academic supervisor and through the process of documenting preliminary comments or assumptions in the form of memos. Additionally, in the present document, the researcher provided the reader with a description of the researcher's background in an effort to make clear potential influences on data collection and analysis processes. Second, the researcher engaged in peer-review with an academic supervisor throughout the data analysis process to ensure the findings were consistent and credible. Peer-review involves having a colleague analyse portions of the data to confirm agreement around the emerging codes and themes (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Third, to ensure consistency, the researcher maintained detailed memos and notes containing reflections, questions, and decisions made throughout the study and created a running record of the researcher's interactions with the data throughout the analysis (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

The final two strategies employed to increase the trustworthiness of the study addressed the concern of transferability. The researcher provided rich, thick descriptions of the participants and their experiences being coached within the manuscript to increase the reader's ability to determine the relevance of the findings in comparison to their situation (i.e., whether the findings can be transferred) (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Last, the researcher ensured maximum variation within the study sample to allow for a greater range of application by readers (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). As such, participating Educators vary in age, ethnicity, experience in the field, and length of time being coached. Additionally, attempts were made to ensure rural educators were reflected in the sample in addition to educators in urban settings.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The present study received approval by the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board (REB). The researcher maintained a respectful exchange with participants at all times and engaged in multiple actions designed to minimize risks to the participants. First, the researcher emphasised the voluntary nature of the study, including the participants' right to withdraw from the study at any time, and their ability to decline a response to any interview question they did not feel comfortable with. Second, although the researcher had obtained written consent for each participant prior to the on-site interviews, the researcher carefully reviewed the consent forms with each participant and clarified any questions or concerns prior to commencing the interview process. One potential participant, upon revision of informed consent, withdrew from the study.

Third, the researcher paid careful attention to the participants' verbal and non-verbal language to monitor for signs of discomfort or stress.

As the study was conducted in collaboration with *GRIT*, the researcher emphasised the anonymity of participants and confidentiality of the data to ease any concerns of raw data reaching the community partner. Participants' anonymity was protected with the use of pseudonyms. Additional identifying information such as the participants' Coach's name, and participants' centre name were not transcribed and pseudonyms or other descriptive terms were used in their place. Confidentiality was maintained in the secure transfer and storage of digital and hard copy files. Audio recordings were transferred to a secure location immediately after the interview and deleted from the device. Audio recordings, transcripts, and any other digital documents were encrypted and stored on a password-protected university cloud space. Paper documents, including consent forms, were locked in a filing cabinet inside a locked research office at the University of Alberta.

## **Chapter Four: Findings**

The purpose of this study was to explore the experience and perceived impact of coaching among early educators. The *ASaP* program provided the context for this study. The present chapter has three sections. In the first section, a description of each of the participants is provided. In the second, themes that emerged from the interviews regarding question one, the experience of being coached, are provided. The third section provides detailed descriptions of themes that emerged from the interviews regarding two, the impact of coaching.

# **Participants**

Seven female early educators who were Site Leads in *ASaP* ELC Centres participated in the study. A brief summary of their backgrounds and general response to the interview is provided below.

Cindy is a 48-year-old Educator with over 25 years of experience in ELC. Cindy has a diploma in Early Childhood Education and was the only participant employed within a rural ELC centre. Cindy had received one year of coaching prior to accepting an administrative role within her centre which meant that she was no longer receiving coaching at the time of the interview. Cindy had been out of coaching and in her new administrative role for one month. In Cindy's description of her coaching experience, she emphasised her Coach's role in the process and portrayed her Coach as extremely "helpful" and "inspiring". Cindy described how her initial apprehension with coaching was quickly lifted due to the wealth of positivity and useful feedback her Coach provided. Cindy related increased confidence and expertise through coaching that became most apparent in her interactions with families and coworkers. Cindy's

description of the coaching relationship indicated that she viewed the Coach as an expert and a great resource to assist her with any challenges or questions that arose.

Fran is a 55-year-old Educator with a diploma in Early Childhood Education. Fran was part of the very first group of educators within the *ASaP* project and at the time of the interview, she had received four years of coaching. Fran's passionate description of her experience being coached significantly emphasized the coaching relationship which she described as safe and supportive and within which she felt empowered as an educator. This coaching relationship increased Fran's confidence in her skills and knowledge, enhanced her professional identity, and re-ignited her passion for the ELC profession. Furthermore, Fran describes how coaching fostered a new way of understanding children that not only transformed her teaching practices but her relationships with the children in her care.

Liz is a 39-year-old Educator, who too had a diploma in Early Childhood Education. Liz had received three years of coaching at the time of the interview. Liz's interview emphasised the "peace of mind" that comes with having a coach that she can rely on for support when confronted with challenges in her workplace - challenges that were not limited to classroom management but also navigating the strains of staffing irregularities and building the confidence to engage families. Liz described how coaching, along with reflective practice meetings and workshops, all contributed to changes in her ELC practices. Liz's interview suggested that the coaching relationship was a stable and secure relationship whereas the relationships with her coworkers and families were less stable and offered room for development.

Harpreet is a 39-year-old Educator with a graduate degree and over 16 years of experience working in ELC settings. English is not Harpreet's first language. Harpreet had received less than two months of coaching at the time of the interview. Harpreet's interview reflected an educator in the very early stages of the coaching process. Harpreet's description of the coaching experience emphasised the significant demands coaching placed on her and the stress that accompanied these demands. Harpreet described how the demands of coaching were overwhelming, interfered with the time she was able to spend with children, and placed strain on her coworkers. Although Harpreet acknowledged that coaching had some benefits, she did not feel the small benefits she experienced were worth the heightened stress and heavy workload.

Bridget is a 25-year-old Educator with a bachelor's degree and three years of experience working in ELC settings. Bridget had received three years of coaching at the time of interview. During her interview, Bridget reflected on her growth as an educator and the growth of the centre as a whole. Bridget described how coaching contributed to the development of collaborative relationships between her and her coworkers and increased her confidence in her ability to support children and engage families. Bridget expressed how beneficial it was to have the Coach's perspective when tackling challenges in the classroom and attributed her successes in the classroom to the coaching relationship, which she experienced as a safe space within which she could problem solve.

Halena is a 53-year-old female educator with a diploma in Early Childhood Education. Halena had received two years of coaching at the time of interview. English is not Halena's first language. In Halena's interview, she described her coaching experience as "overwhelming positive". Halena emphasized her appreciation for the Coach's feedback and support that enabled her to better support children and decreased her frustration with challenging behaviours. Halena described how coaching has enhanced her relationships with children, families, and coworkers through deepening her understanding of children. Halena described the administration and staff within her centre as collaborative and supportive and was one of two educators out of seven, who did not describe difficulties with centre logistics (e.g., staffing, space, etc.) when reflecting on her experience being coached.

Sue is a 46-year-old educator with a graduate degree in education. Along with Fran, Sue has been with the *ASaP* coaching project since its commencement. In the interview, Sue described how her experience of being coached changed throughout her four years within the *ASaP* project. Sue recounted her initial experiences as predominantly apprehensive and uneasy as she grappled with new teaching techniques while feeling constantly evaluated. Gradually, over time, Sue's experiences of being coached shift from evaluative to supportive, and she describes the once foreign and unfamiliar teaching techniques as becoming more her own and originating naturally within her own practices. Sue's description of her experience being coached emphasised the changing nature of the coaching experience over time as the coaching relationship develops and the coached content becomes less foreign.

## **Research Question One: Themes**

What is the experience of being coached to improve teaching practices aimed at enhancing the quality of early learning and care?

Two main themes emerged from the interviews regarding Educator's experience of being coached. One theme, *Opening up to Coaching*, concerned Educators' reflections on how their receptiveness to coaching changed over time. The second theme, *Organizational Components*, clusters together ideas that were expressed about the logistics of being coached - what needed to be in place in order for the coaching process to be delivered effectively and for Educators to implement the coached content.

Main Theme	Subtheme
<b>Opening Up to Coaching</b> ,	429 references, across 7 participants
	Coach as an unwelcome visitor, 96 references, across 6 participants
	Coach as a skilled guide, 333 references, across 7 participants
Organizational Component	nts, 91 references, across 7 participants
	Coaching logistics, 60 references, across 6 participants
	ELC Centre support, 31 references, across 6 participants

#### Table 1. Frequency of Educator Experiences Themes

# **Opening Up to Coaching**

When asked to describe what it was like to be coached, Educators unanimously described the relationship with the coach as being central to the process and described how this relationship evolved over time. Educators used a range of adjectives to describe their Coach and their coaching experiences – initially the experience was 'stressful' or it felt 'evaluative' but, for Educators who had been part of *ASaP* for more than a year, the majority of these adjectives shifted to a positive valence, such as 'helpful,' 'accessible,' 'dedicated', 'efficient,' 'enthusiastic,' 'flexible,' 'never gives up,' and 'patient.'

**Coach as an Unwelcome Visitor.** Six of the seven Educators described their early coaching experiences as 'nerve-wracking' and 'awkward,' and expressed that they 'had some reservations' within the initial phases of the coaching process. Educators' descriptions of the early stages emphasized an increased workload that placed significant demands on their time. Educators' described discomfort with the Coach's presence due to feelings of being 'watched'

and an uncertainty in their ability to meet expectations. Some Educators even found themselves questioning the overall worthiness of their participation in the program. Liz describes how the early demands of coaching were met with apprehension and uncertainty from both her and her coworkers:

... at the beginning it was kind of like, "When are we going to have the time to do that?"

"How exactly is this going to look like?" that was kind of off to a little bit of a rocky

beginning just because it's a lot of work, it's hard to kind of get into right?

Cindy describes feeling uneasy in her early experiences being observed and an insecurity in her performance:

Well when you're being watched, of course your head is going, "Okay what do I need to do here?" ... at the beginning when you're thinking, "Well am I wasting [Coach's] time because I didn't get this and this done?"

Prior to developing a relationship with her coach, Fran describes an uncertainty around her Coach's expectations and a sense of being evaluated:

So yes. To begin with it was awkward because we didn't know each other... and I didn't know what she expected of me and I put higher expectations on myself. You know? And I didn't want to look dumb.

Harpreet, who had received less than 2 months of coaching at the time of the interview, perceives coaching to be non-beneficial and describes how the added stress and pressure placed on her have contributed to this negative evaluation:

No, it is not beneficial. It is an extra stress for me right now. And because I have to plan for that, I have to work on that, I have to think about that, 'ok this day she is coming we have to do this'. It is like an extra work for me. **Coach as a Skilled Guide.** As the coaching relationship developed, most Educators came to see their Coach as 'skilled' or 'super helpful' and several Educators attributed their successes in the classroom to the Coach. Fran described how the coach helped her to translate information that she had learned in the workshop into classroom practices:

I would be lost without their help, or I think I would....I have been fortunate... and I find that this help has been instrumental. I just know for myself it wouldn't have gone as far as it did without their help.

Halena noted that the coach helped her to individualize the PM practices for a specific child: It was really good to have [Coach] to observe us how we can communicate with that child, how we can create relationship with that child, and then help us to make some action plan for them and work according to that one and specifically we know how ....how to work with that child. How to help him and how to support him.

Once Educators' opened up to coaching, they reflected on their unique learning process within the coaching experience. Their comments emphasised the role feedback and goal setting played in their rate of progress and capacity building. The majority of Educators referenced feedback as the principle means of learning while coaching. The feedback helped them 'build confidence' and pointed out areas of strength that they had not recognized in their practice before, as Bridget describes:

Just to go through what was observed, a lot of the time when you're doing something you not only don't notice things that you need to work on or things that didn't go too well like all the little things that happen like, these two are talking to each other or this is happening over in this corner. You don't see that, but the person observing you does and is like, "Oh I noticed this. That's nice to see" and they also notice all of the positive things that you're doing that you don't give yourself credit for and that you don't notice.So it's nice to get that affirmation as well as like, "Oh how like- in your plan here you could probably try something like this and see if more kids are engaged with it."Liz described how feedback reassured her that she was "on the right track":

It gives me kind of peace of mind as well to be able to bounce ideas off of her... and get that feedback that I'm on the right track or that maybe we need to just tweak it a little bit and try doing this instead.

Liz's reflection indicates that she may have covered the same ground with the coach several times and that arriving at the right solution was a process. By using the Teaching Pyramid Observational Tool (*TPOT*) the Educators got feedback on their strengths but were also able to target goals that they would work on in their educational setting. Liz described how the *TPOT* heightened her awareness around what she really needed to focus on:

...when we go back and look at the *TPOT*, there are things that [we do], but then I will look at it and think, "Maybe we're not being as intentional about it, maybe we're not doing it as often as we should be." So, for me personally I find it really bringing that to the surface so that I can look back and reflect on what kind of things are happening in the room...

Importantly, Sue reflected on how the learning process never follows a straight line and many factors influence growth and change:

I think when you're working with young children, especially in child care, there is a lot of different demands on you and so this is just one of the many demands and so sometimes it takes a longer time to achieve a goal or you set a goal but then maybe you're sidetracked by something else. So... your focus on what you do determines your success rate and sometimes when your focus is on something else you go slower. But you're still making progress but it's slower.

# **Organizational Components**

Organizational components at the level of both the Coach and the Educator influenced the experience of coaching.

**Coaching Logistics.** The majority of Educators described how the logistical factors of the coaching sessions impacted the coaching process and often required attention, or smoothing out. Frequently described logistical factors included the length of time of the coaching visit, the day and time of the visit, and the interval between visits. The Educators indicated that process was less efficient and that they felt stress when these details were not worked out well. Harpreet for example, described discomfort when sessions went on too long:

I don't mind learning all these things, as long as it has proper timing. When they tell me the timing – like it is going to be one hour and 10 or 15 minutes is OK - I am fine with that. But when it is going to go [longer] and all that, then it is going to be hard for me. I am going to make up my mind one hour I have to be with her.

In contrast, Sue who had four years of experience being coached describes how the meeting logistics smoothed out over time:

Yeah. When we started she would always come and we would be at the end of the class, she would watch for the entire class or for a portion of the class and then if it was the morning it would be- we would be doing [the debrief] over my lunch time...If she was in my afternoon class then [the debrief] would be after school. But then we realized if she came ... at certain times and if she could watch for half an hour and then we could consult for half an hour during music class.

The Coach was able to incorporate her knowledge of the Educator and the Educator's schedule to find times that worked best for the Educator and didn't overwhelm or stress her.

**ELC Centre Support.** Educators frequently described how issues with staffing and space impeded the coaching process, but also how the support of their centre directors facilitated the coaching process. Liz noted that staffing was routinely unpredictable:

It all depends on the day, because even we can plan out the day that [Coach] is going to come and know that we are going to have this time and this time but just kind of the nature of being here and people being sick and things like that, sometimes it's a little harder to try and sneak away for a little bit.

Fran describes how limited space in her centre impacts her one-to-one debrief with her Coach:
We have like a little staff room that is also our kitchen and it's lunchtime. So it's a busy time, ...and you know the cook is like, 'Can you move your feet so I don't roll you over with a cart full of food?' So it's more [about] having a quiet space without feeling rushed.
Harpreet described how her affection for her ELC centre's administrative staff motivated her to participate in coaching, despite her reservations:

But you know my work place, they are beautiful people. They are amazing people. That is one of the reasons I was working here, super co-operative and that is the reason that I said OK I will work with *GRIT*. [laughs] Yah because [the centre administrative staff] love me.

Halena described how her centre's administrative staff supports her professional development activities:

...so our administration team are very supportive and [name] is our coordinator, so we both will go - and sometimes the program director as well - we will go to workshops and if there was something new or if they email it to [centre coordinator] she quickly print it and make it ready and hand it to us...

# **Research Question Two: Themes**

What are early educators' perceived impact of coaching to improve teaching practices aimed at enhancing the development of children?

Three main themes emerged from the interviews regarding the Educators' perceived impact of coaching. The first theme, *Building Connection*, concerned Educators' reflections on how coaching transformed their relationships and enhanced their professional identity. The second theme, *Nurturing Environment*, emphasizes Educators' descriptions of how coaching impacted the classroom environment through enhancing their educator-child interactions and their teaching practices, and fostered children's development. Last, the third theme, *Room to Grow*, encompasses areas targeted by coaching that Educators' identified as having still room to grow.

Main Theme	Subtheme	
Building Connection, 230 references, across 7 participants		
	Not alone, 86 references, across 7 participants	
	Deepened relationship with children, 100 references, across 7 participants	
	Confidence to engage families, 89 references, across 6 participants	
Nurturing Environment, 84 references, across 7 participants		
	From chaos to peace, 28 references, across 7 participants	

Table 2. Frequency of Educator Perceived Impact of Coaching

	Increased intentionality in teaching, 11 references, across 4 participants	
	Child growth, 19 references, across 7 participants	
Room to Grow, 41 references, across 7 participants		
	Reaching families, 32 references, across 7 participants	
	Peer coaching, 9 references, across 4 participants	

# **Building Connection**

When asked to describe how coaching influenced their practices within ELC, Educators' reflections centred predominantly around the transformation of their professional relationships and the deepened connections with the children in their care. Educators described how the supportive coaching relationship contributed to a sense that they were "not alone." Further, coaching facilitated a renewed sense of curiosity about children, giving Educators fresh insights into child behaviours leading to more nurturing interactions. This increased confidence in their ability to support children resulted in greater confidence to guide families in more developmentally appropriate practices. Ultimately, Educators' describe how coaching contributed to building connections with not only their coach, but with children, families, coworkers, peers in the early learning field, and their profession as a whole.

Not Alone. All Educators' described how the development of supportive relationships with their coach, coworkers, and other professionals in the field contributed to a sense that they were 'not alone' when tackling challenges and were often a source of validation that they were 'on the right track.' Sue's description of her coaching experience describes how her centre felt "isolated" and how she appreciated the Coach's visits and the feedback she offered:

It's really nice to have a Coach come in and then give you feedback. We are fairly

isolated down here, other than our parents we don't have a lot of people pop in and out and then give us feedback.

Liz describes how the coaching relationship has become a safe place for her to not only discuss her own progress but also the difficulties she is experiencing due to staffing instability:

I feel confident that I can talk to her about kind of everything that is going on in the room. We've had a lot of changes over the year with some staff turnover and some staff illness and things like that so not only do I feel like I'm able to talk to her about my own goals and personal growth and stuff like that in the room but also if I'm having some problems in the room or need a little bit of advice she's been a really great sounding board and she's offered me a lot of guidance in those kinds of situations.

Fran describes how coaching facilitated the development of a supportive relationship with her coworkers:

It's made us realize having a healthy team is really important and it acknowledges the fact that it's important for you to talk together, to give each other positive feedback and to support each other and to do it in a way that is very public for the children to see. Because that is modeling for the children. It's modeling teamwork, it's modeling, and also thanking your team members for the strengths that they offer.

Bridget describes how coaching has strengthened her relationship with her coworkers and how she is able to rely her on coworkers for support when confronted with a challenge: "...it's kind of brought our whole team closer together. You have other people to talk to, "Like this just isn't working today, what do you think I could do?" it's been nice". Liz describes how reflective practice meetings with ELC educators from different centres have provided her with the opportunity to receive new ideas from others in her field experiencing the same challenges she is experiencing:

...it's interesting to find out what other people who are going through the same thing are coming up with to see new things that we maybe haven't thought of that we can try or how we can modify something we are already doing.

A Deepened Understanding of Children. Six of the seven Educators described how coaching deepened their understanding of children as it offered a new lens of curiosity within which to view the child. Furthermore, this greater understanding increased the Educators' confidence in their ability to support the children in their care. Sue describes how her interpretations and responses have shifted with coaching in the following:

Yeah so it impacts, when you see things. So, you might be watching and you notice somebody shrug their shoulders and turn away. Or take a deep sigh and you will go over and say, "Well I noticed that you just took a deep breath, is everything okay, how are you feeling?" It's not necessarily saying "I see you're sad" but describing what you see and then getting them to tell you how they feel because maybe how they feel isn't what I thought. Maybe they don't need any assistance. Yeah, it's a different entry point as a teacher.

Bridget describes how her interpretations of children's behaviour have slowed and how she now asks "a lot more questions":

I think you're a lot more understanding of how they are feeling, you're not really making excuses like, "Oh they are just mad because whatever they didn't get their way" or "Why are they feeling mad?" and you ask a lot more questions rather than just being like, "Ugh,"

Fran describes how the coaching experience changed the way she was interpreting a child's

challenging behavior and enabled her to go from feeling "helpless" to feeling better able to support the child:

I don't know how she did it but she found a way to make me look at what was happening differently... so this was one of the little children that you would think, "What are we going to do today? I feel like I've tried it all. What are we going to do? Oh is it June yet oh no it's only like the 6th of September..." Right? That's a horrible mindset to have and I'm not saying that it's an exaggeration but when you have a helpless feeling, and you think you've tried it all... So, definitely mentored us through some visuals, mentored us through some skills ...and so that has been a tremendous success for [child].

Sue describes how she was able to share her new knowledge with parents:

I was able to demonstrate a process in front of the parents where instead of just making it right for [the child], it made [the child] think about the process and what they wanted to do and so it gave the child the opportunity to feel their feeling...

Educators described how the knowledge and skills they acquired not only changed the way they interpreted child behaviour but also the way they interacted with children, shifting from a more directive 'in charge' approach to a more child-centred approach in which the Educator is "sitting beside the children" as they learn. Sue describes this process here:

I have noticed a real difference when I problem-solve with my children. It's slower. I stop and I acknowledge what I see and what I hear and I ask if I can help. If they say "yes" at that point then we try to figure out what needs to be solved and together we come up with some solutions and then I follow the children through to make sure that the solution they chose they have support while they try. Then follow up again to see if it worked. So… I'm investing a lot of time in that problem and in solving that problem and everything else gets put on hold and my partner teacher will pick up the slack or vise versa instead of saying if somebody is arguing over maybe ea toy saying "okay I'm putting the timer, when this timer is finished then you guys trade" which would have taken much less of my time and that's where I mean I would have been in charge of the problem solving whereas now I'm sitting beside the children and helping them problem solve but it takes way more of my time. Yup.

Fran describes how permitting a child the space to experience her emotions contributed to the development of a trusting relationship:

This morning this little girl was really upset, her mom dropped her off and they were already 15 minutes late for our field trip. ...she threw herself down and she was mad and I said, "You are mad. You're mad, I hear you say I want my mom to take my jacket off. You are mad. I am mad. That's okay. I'm scared that I'm going to get hurt, I'm going to be beside you, and it's okay to be mad. When you're done being mad, I'm just going to sit here while you're mad, it's okay." I sat there, what felt like forever, patience, probably wasn't even thirty seconds. But it felt like a really long time. ... For a little girl to know it's okay to be mad it just happened too fast, she was dropped off and mom felt the anxiety, "Oh my Gosh I forgot about the field trip I better get going!" and puff, dump and go. And the transition wasn't there for that little girl, we're all lined up ready to go. Just give her a few seconds. It's like waiting for a yellow light, it's really not that long, I don't know why we blast through them all the time. We expect the children to be able to just change their feelings, or not have them. Right? And so that little girl was glued to me on the field trip! And it's just, it's building that trust.

Halena describes developing trusting relationships with children through the use of a visual

support (i.e., First-Then):

The other one we use is First-Then so it's really, really helpful for children to understand first this one and then that one and when we just consistently continue this schedule and whatever we promise to try we just stay there, they just trust us.

**Confidence to Engage Families.** Educators described how coaching enhanced their professional identity and increased their confidence to engage families. Cindy describes how the resources she has received throughout the coaching process have played an important role in her ability to support families and transform the perception of her from "babysitter" to "childcare professional":

...you can say to them, "I see you're having a problem here, I think I have something that can help you out." *ASaP* actually gave us a book about different transitions at home and the struggles that might occur and what can be triggering it and how to help and I've handed that book to a couple of parents and said, "Take a look through here." So it's great to be able to have a parent come and then you can turn around and say, "I think I can help you." Which is huge because they trust you a lot more too and you're not just the babysitter. You're actually a childcare professional.

Bridget describes how coaching increased her confidence to engage parents and contributed to a sense of "I know what I'm talking about":

Sure. I think that in having, it kind of pertains to I think one of the questions that was on here a little bit later but just in my relationship with [Coach] and her kind of helping to build my confidence to form those valuable relationships with the parents, especially when you're trying to have maybe some of those harder conversations or things that you might need to bring up that aren't necessarily what a parent is expecting to hear. Then being able to have the resources so that I can speak confidently to what I'm telling them and actually build that trust with the parents as well. So that they understand that I know

what I'm talking about and that we can actually help them, give them resources as well. Liz describes how coaching enabled her to communicate more confidently and effectively with parents:

With parents, the children who have needed more supports, it's helped to like, or for me at least, it's helped me feel confident in what I'm talking about and it's given us like a nice just starting ground on like how we can start this conversation even so that nobody feels intimidated at the time and it's just like, "This is the way it is and this is what we've seen have you seen it?" and they go through their steps for talking to families, which is really great, kind of helps you start a conversation without parents feeling threatened or that you are saying something is wrong with their child.

Fran describes how recognition from families, among others, has instilled her with a sense of pride in her work:

...we just had a celebration not only through *GRIT* but also through our board members and everything so all of this kind of came together and it's like "Wow it actually made a difference" ..to have other people recognize the progress, families that have been with us for the last three years, ... it's just knowing right? And being able to be proud of that. Being able to say, "You know what I work with great people and through this program we have gone beyond where I thought we would go." Yeah.

# Nurturing Environment

All of the Educators' identified positive changes in the classroom environment, their teaching practices, and children's development as a consequence of participating in coaching.

**From Chaos to Peace.** All seven Educators described how the experience of coaching positively impacted the classroom environment. Educators' described these changes as fostering calmer and more inclusive classroom environments with more social-emotional learning resources. Bridget describes a situation in which coaching reduced the "chaos" and contributed to a more "peaceful" classroom:

So most recently I would say our whole room was having an issue with our transition after snack time and to activities because we have snack in the same room that we do activities, so the tables need to be cleared before anything else can happen. In previous years we were able to just have the kids do quiet reading for ten minutes and it was fine, this group it just did not work at all and we struggled and struggled and struggled. So, I went over with my coach like different strategies that we could use and we kind of found one that our whole room really liked where we would set up just quiet floor activities for them and we were able to do that within a week of coming up with the goal and it's just been amazing ever since. It's such a smooth transition, it's so much more peaceful, everybody has like a role after and you're like "Oh!" my goodness it's not chaos, nobody is sitting there trying to force these poor kids [laughing] to look at books that they don't care about. Yeah, it's nice. [Laughs].

Cindy describes how the experience of coaching has provided her with the tools to create a calmer classroom environment:

You know when you've got the more challenging behaviours a person automatically – "okay you were told no so why is this continuing?" but it's building the different strategies to build towards success that has been very beneficial and it's just calmed things.

Fran describes how coaching has made her classroom more accessible for all children: For example, in our room I have alluded to different cultures, we have different age groups, languages, abilities. We have a child that has a diagnosed speech delay, one with an undiagnosed speech delay, anxiety, autism, and there is no division of those children. A visual that you use for a non-verbal child is just as useful to a child who knows English or might know Russian. Might speak Cantonese. A visual is a visual. It's universal. So, instead of it being: This is what we do with this child and this is what we do with that child, they've supported us in providing coaching and how to come up with strategies and tools, quotes tools, that don't allude to any particular child. Anybody can pick it up and use it, it's in the hallway when you come in. There is a picture of a hat, rain boots, do we know what to put on we don't have to nag we just point to the picture today you just need hat and shoes. It's the same, that's what we're doing. "What are we doing right now?" it's weather in Alberta it changes every five minutes but right now we're putting on hats and boots, we don't need to tell twenty children. We just point or we give them the sign, hat, shoes, boots. Then they don't feel that they have to be told everything so that's the difference right? It's universal. Seamless.

**Increased Intentionality in Teaching Social-emotional Skills.** Four of the seven Educators described how coaching increased their awareness of the importance of socialemotional development in early childhood and subsequently increased their intentionality in teaching social-emotional skills to children. Liz describes how the experience of coaching helped her be more intentional in her teaching practices:

I would say overall just being coached has helped me be more of an intentional educator ... Really making sure that we're bringing that social-emotional growth to the forefront with the kids and being really intentional about it...like, when we're setting up a project or an art experience or something for the kids now instead of just putting out the supplies I'm being super intentional about what I'm putting out. I know I have six kids sitting here, I'm putting out three pairs of scissors and I'm saying, "Okay guys there are only three pairs of scissors here, so you're going to have to take turns and you're going to have to share and you're going to have to figure out how you're going to use these materials." So, whereas before I might have just put everything out for everybody to use. So trying to really be intentional in those teaching moments.

Sue reflects on how the experience of coaching has made her more mindful in her teaching practice:

It's given me the opportunity to watch what I do and become more mindful of my practice and the way that I plan, the way that I communicate with the children, why we do what we do, I think it's made me just reflect on the process of the time that I spend with children and what comes of it and really values the process of learning together.

**Child Growth.** All seven Educators described how coaching contributed to a reduction in children's challenging behaviours, such as 'outbursts,' 'tantrums,' and violent or aggressive behaviours. Halena describes the significant reduction in incident reports for a young child since his entering into her classroom: I have a very special child, he is nice, I love him, but some problem from emotion or whatever is coming from... he needs more support and he didn't have any relationship, communication with anyone. He was very aggressive and I can tell you last year maybe it wasn't any day that we didn't have any accident report- maybe two or three - every day. ... but when he moved to my room [this year] we already work on this program so we just have him and ....no biting accident report and it's almost one year he is in our room, no accident report....

Fran describes how coaching contributed to a reduction in outbursts for one particular child and how this reduction was sustained as the child moved into a new classroom the following year:

Okay, the first child. By the time she had moved into the next program she had a lot of those skills so we saw a lot less outbursts if you want to call it. Which were more than likely frustrations.

Educators' not only described a reduction in challenging behaviours, but they also described gains in children's social-emotional skills. Halena describes how children developed the skills to resolve social problems independently:

They have problem solving kit and it's really really helpful and if something happens, if you're far from some small group of children and they have some problem directly they will go to the kit and take it to each other, open it and they just look for that one step by step and then they just offer each one which is solution and which one is the best one. Because they practice on that one for a long time now they, in some way they ignore to take that one, they say "Okay, take a time there. Okay, this will be your turn."

Fran describes how one child's newly developed social-emotional skills decreased her "outbursts" and facilitated her ability to form "genuine friendships": We saw her gain authentic friendships, genuine friendships. The difference would be to have a child come into the room that literally no wonder, like, nobody would come over. No children would want, right? They didn't want to play. Not because they didn't like her, they didn't understand her and she didn't right? She didn't have those skills yet to being the child where they would notice if she wasn't there and they would ask about her and it was genuine!

Sue describes how coaching increased one child's participation in the classroom:

The little guy who couldn't come to the snack table, by the end of the school year he was finding his way to the snack table, eating his snack, and with a reminder often with a reminder, putting his bag back in his cubby. When he was at the snack table he was having some conversations. At the beginning of the school year when it was time for snack he would lay down on the ground and he would scream because he actually didn't know what to do.

## Room to Grow

Although Educators identified the many positive ways in which coaching impacted their practices and their ELC centre, they also identified areas in which they felt there was still room to grow. Two areas in particular were reiterated by Educators as areas they felt the need for more coaching, reaching families and peer coaching.

**Reaching Families**. Although most of the Educators identified coaching as having increased their confidence and ability to engage families, they all identified that there was still room to grow when it came to family engagement. Each Educator identified a need to transfer knowledge of social-emotional development to families, while two Educators identified the need for support around building relationships with parents in general. Liz describes how families'

lack of knowledge around social-emotional development interferes with her confidence in her ability to communicate effectively:

I think that part of what makes it hard is the families not really knowing or having that understanding of what social-emotional development is and how it impacts their children. It's kind of hard to explain that to them, like when they haven't heard of it before and then I always because it's something new if it's something they've never even heard of then I find myself kind of doubting myself if I'm giving them the correct information and hoping that I am relaying everything properly to them. You know?

Halena expresses her desire for monthly meetings with the parents to share the knowledge she has gained surrounding social-emotional development:

I think, but actually in fact it won't happen because people are very busy for the real life, and you cannot do anything, but I really liked to have some, like our staff meetings [laughs] some parents have some meetings and just explain about something and in some way make them to come to daycare ... if there is a big meeting once a month for all parents and they most come it really helps them to understand a child.

Harpreet, still very new to coaching, expresses her desire for coaching support around developing relationships with busy parents:

I need to know that – there are kids whose parents are super non-cooperative – sorry excuse my words – and I am – please help us to deal with your child. But we cannot say that because we can just request them. Can you – so I need to know at that point what strategies or ideas we need to use to ask and request parents please help us a little bit to deal with your child. Because when it happens we are dealing with the child and they see us – oh same teacher she is going to say the same thing. I'm not going to listen to you. Because the parents are not very strict about it. And the things happen at the end of the day and they are upset and unhappy and I do not want to see parents unhappy. That is my biggest fear here. But then you know what we need help for that. I want *GRIT* to help us in that regard.

Educators also described frustrations with how parents' lack of, or slow, responding impaired their ability to adequately support high-needs children. Fran shares her frustrations with the parents' delay in addressing a concern, and how this delay impairs her ability to provide the child with the support they need:

My coach often said that the parents have to do their part before she can do her part. So if they had speech problems than the parent had to go get them assessed at AHS. Right? They need to do their part before we can build here. Which really slows down the process... as much as that is a frustrating slow process, waiting for the parents to get on board, I can see where it's really important. For us, we're often the first point of contact and so it takes us all the way to the end of the year before a parent is actually willing to address an issue. [Sighs] and that's where work is very frustrating because then we can't have the support that we need to make the year as successful and as supportive as possible.

**Peer-coaching.** Four of the seven Educators described a need for further coaching around navigating relationships with coworkers, particularly when it comes to transferring their skills to their coworkers. Sue describes how even after four years being coached, she still feels she hasn't "figured out" how to support the adults in her learning environment:

I think if I was here for another year then it would be a matter of me figuring out how to coach better and just continue learning what I'm learning but I think for me the next step is how to support the adults in my learning environment, and I certainly haven't figured out that.

Liz describes the difficulty she had with bringing new practices into the room and requesting her coworkers to implement them with her:

I think it was, it's hard for me to go on my own and learn all of these great things and come back and say, "Hey guys, let's try this." And trying to get them to kind of buy into the same kind of thing.

It was evident the Educators valued the knowledge and skills they had acquired and wished to share them with families and their colleagues but they were unclear how to do this effectively.

#### **Chapter Five: Discussion**

So I've drawn a mountain. With several different paths, because when you're working with ASAP it's like climbing a mountain. It's hard work and everybody does it at their own speed. There are multiple paths, because we all have a different path to get to or toward the top and somebody at the top.....[who] always loops back to make sure that everybody is on the same page. So we're all kind of tackling the mountain. Which means that we're trying to become better at teaching social-emotional skills to all children but we are all developing at a speed that suits us. We all have support, there is nobody by themselves and we're all on different paths because different centers need different supports.

Educator participating in the ASaP Project

Coaching has emerged as an alternative to traditional professional development efforts aimed at improving the quality of early childhood settings (Powell & Diamond, 2013). Although coaching has demonstrated effectiveness (e.g., Sheridan et al., 2010), few studies have examined coaching practices or have explored the aspects of coaching that may have led to positive outcomes (Downer, 2013). The present study investigated early Educators' experience of being coached in ELC settings using basic qualitative inquiry (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Themes derived from interviews with early Educators participating in the ASaP Project revealed that they encounter coaching as a gradual process of opening up to the experience while navigating their complex organizational contexts. In the early stage of the coaching process, Educators view Coaches as unwelcome visitors and, over time, this initial unease shifts, and Coaches are welcomed by Educators as skilled guides who become allies in problem-solving, trusted providers of resources and feedback, and facilitators of reflective practice. Educators described the impact of coaching as enhancing relationships and classroom practices with changes noted in the overall learning environment, their teaching practices, and children's development. The results from this study shed light on the complex and unique environments experienced by early educators, serve to enhance the understanding of the process of coaching, and endorse coaching as a viable means of improving early education contexts. The following section discusses these

findings and situates them within current research and theories of change and learning in adulthood. Finally, the chapter concludes by discussing limitations, directions for future research, and implications for improving the quality of ELC.

# **Opening Up to Coaching: Progressing Through the Stages of Change**

The majority of participants described the initial phases of their coaching experience as marked by feelings of uncertainty, anxiety, and discomfort. These feelings were accompanied by a perception of increased workload and expectations. Educators' descriptions of their coaching experiences indicated that their relationship with coaching changed over time. They came to value the coach as a skilled guide and a supportive resource they could rely on as they tackled challenges in their classrooms, with their own learning, and enhancing the participation of all children. The changes described by the Educators' can be understood within Prochaska and DiClemente's (2015) Stages of Change model. The Stages of Change model conceptualizes behavioural change as occurring in five stages: (1) pre-contemplation, (2) contemplation, (3) preparation, (4) action, and (5) maintenance. The Educators' descriptions of their initial experiences suggest they were in the pre-contemplation or contemplation stage of change. Individuals in the pre-contemplation stage are often unaware or "under aware" of their own need for change and have a tendency to "underestimate the pros of changing" and "overestimate the cons" (McConnaughy, et al., 1983, p. 152). Individuals in the contemplation stage of change are more aware than the pre-contemplators of the pros of changing, however they remain acutely aware of the cons and are prone to engaging in frequent cost-benefit analyses of changing (Prochaska, et al., 2015). At first, not only did the Educators frequently note the perceived "cons" of being coached (e.g., increased workload and expectations), they also were not yet fully aware of the utility of enhancing their practices, as this Educator put it, "So I know there are

strategies to use but actually ...all it needs for me, working in childcare for the past 8 years, ...is to just talk and sit down with the child.". Norcross and colleagues (2011) emphasised the importance of matching one's approach to the stage in which the individual is occupying. In a meta-analysis examining the relationships between a client's stage of change and psychotherapy outcomes, Norcross et al., (2011) reported that therapists who impose action on individuals within the pre-contemplative stage can drive their clients away while attributing their lack of progress to resistance. When we look at Harpreet's description of her experience of coaching - an Educator who had only participated in the program for less than two months at the time of the interview – she describes coaching as "not beneficial" and explains:

It is an extra stress for me right now and because I have to plan for that, I have to work on that, I have to think about that... It is extra work for me. If they give me a choice I would never stay [in *ASaP*].

Harpreet's description of her experience suggests she is in the pre-contemplative stage, giving far more attention to the cons of participating within *ASaP* than the pros. Despite being in the pre-contemplative stage, Harpreet feels pressure to engage in actions towards change. It is evident that the stress around engaging in these actions is contributing to a desire to exit the program, 'driving her away'.

Educators who described moving to the preparation and then action stages commented that they were becoming more "intentional" and more "reflective" about how they were using the practices with children in their care. A few Educators indicated that they were in Prochaska's maintenance stage of change, wherein they not only felt confident in their skills but were integrating them into their practice in ways that were more meaningful to them. Susan described her evolution from precontemplation to maintenance and how her relationship with being coached changed over a process several years. In the first year, she was "more about figuring out the tools that they were offering and maybe having a try". In the second year, she had learned some of the tools, and was "getting better at using them". In the third year, she was "pushing the tools a little farther" and began "problem-solving and involving the parents". Now in her fourth year being coached, she was using the "tools effectively" and "embedding it in her practice". She draws attention to the passage of time, that over the four years of participating in *ASaP* her response to coaching altered as she became more motivated and proactive with the process. It is clear that the benefits that she saw evolved the longer she participated in the process.

Receiving individualized feedback on clearly set goals was described by many Educators as important to this change process. Educators referenced feedback as the principle means of learning while coaching. The feedback not only helped them "build confidence" but also helped them recognize the "positive things that you're doing that you don't give yourself credit for and that you don't notice". Researchers have identified that positive performance-based feedback increases learners' intrinsic motivation (Badami, et al., 2011). This aligns with Knowles' (1984) assumption that learning is optimized when the adult is internally motivated to learn and clearly understands the purpose of their learning. Fallon and colleagues (2015) concluded from a metaanalysis on learning mechanisms that feedback is an evidence-based practice for affecting change. Hattie and Timperley (2007) note that effective feedback must answer three major questions asked by a teacher and/or by a student: Where am I going? (What are the goals?), How am I going? (What progress is being made toward the goal?), and Where to next? (What activities need to be undertaken to make better progress?). Educators worked with the coach to jointly set goals to understand 'where they were going' and formulate action plans to understand 'how they were going', and feedback after focused observations enabled them to understand

'where to next'. In summary, the experience of being coached is a process conducted over time that Educator reflections endorsed. Their reflections align with theorized stages of change (i.e., Prochaska & DiClemente, 1983), feedback mechanisms that support learning, and best practice principles of adult learning.

# The Role of Organizational Drivers in the Coaching Experience

Educators' frequently spoke about the organizational components (e.g., adequate staffing and appropriate space) and logistical factors (e.g., time of day, duration of visit, etc.) they encountered while being coached and the significant role these components played in either facilitating or interfering with their ability to participate in the coaching process. For example, one Educator described how organizational and logistical components impacted her one-to-one debriefs with her coach

We have like a little staff room that is also our kitchen and it's lunchtime. So it's a busy time, coworkers are a little more 'This is when we need you here.', and you know the cook is like, 'Can you move your feet so I don't roll you over with a cart full of food?' So it's more [about] having a quiet space without feeling rushed.

Research in the field of implementation science helps us understand why Educators frequently referenced the logistical and organizational supports necessary for coaching to be fully experienced. Fixsen and colleagues (2005) outlined three Implementation Drivers necessary to alleviate potential barriers and ensure successful implementation and sustainability of evidence-based practices in ELC settings. These three drivers consist of 1) Competency drivers: activities to ensure that staff have the skills necessary to implement the evidence-based practices, 2) Organizational drivers: actions, policies, and procedures that support practitioners and eliminate administrative and other barriers, and 3) Leadership drivers: critical leadership behaviours

needed to establish and sustain effective programs as circumstances change over time (Fixsen, et al., 2005). Through the organizational drivers, Fixsen and colleagues (2005) recognized the importance of a facilitative administration to adjust work conditions to accommodate and support implementation activities. The Educators' experiences highlight the integrative and compensatory nature of transferring evidence-based practices to ELC settings, in that for competency drivers (e.g., coaching) to be used effectively, it is essential for organizational drivers (e.g., facilitative administration) to develop hospitable environments to host these activities (Metz & Bartley, 2012).

## **Building Competence and Strengthening Connections**

Educators' described transformations that occurred through coaching - within their professional relationships, their relationships with children, and their relationship with their profession as a whole. They reflected on the development of supportive relationships not only with their coach, but with their room-partners, centre staff, and professional peers. Additionally, Educators described stronger educator-child relationships, fostered through a deepening curiosity and an enhanced understanding of the children in their care. The development of supportive relationships and a new lens on child behaviour contributed to a renewed sense of identity as a "childcare professional." Cindy felt that through coaching, she had a better foundation of knowledge to support parents

So it's great to be able to have a parent come and then you can turn around and say, "I think I can help you." Which is huge because they trust you a lot more too and you're not just the babysitter. You're actually a childcare professional.

Research has demonstrated that building caregiver skills through the trusting relationship of an ongoing mentorship is likely to not only improve skills but "reduce some of the isolation and stress that is characteristic of classroom teaching" (Centre on the Developing Child, 2016, p. 20). As Sue described it

It's really nice to have a coach come in and then give you feedback. We are fairly isolated down here, other than our parents we don't have a lot of people pop in and out and then give us feedback.

Heineke (2013) examined the discourse between elementary school teachers and their literacy coaches and found that "without a doubt, the teacher/coach relationship was discussed more ardently than any other factor related to successful coaching" (p. 427). Furthermore, the safety of the coaching relationship may act as a springboard for more self-determined learning. Bridget captured this sense of self-determination when she described how she was able to problem-solve with coworkers, "Like this just isn't working today, what do you think I could do?". This aligns with Knowles' (1984) assumption that learning is optimized when the adult learner is permitted to exercise their autonomy in the process. Deci and Ryan (1985) who have written extensively on this topic, propose that self-determination is best nurtured when three psychological needs are met: 1) autonomy: the need to experience choice in the initiation, maintenance, and regulation of the behaviour, 2) competence: the need to succeed and attain desired outcomes, and 3) relatedness: the need to establish mutual respect and connectedness with others. They hypothesize that these three needs energize the formation of identity, such as we have seen in this research. The Educator interview data revealed frequent reflections on themselves as autonomous learners, with new insights on their competence, all of which were mentored through a strong sense of relatedness initiated with their coach and extended to the children, their coworkers, families, and their professional peers. By meeting these needs through coaching, Educators expressed a stronger sense of identity as a professional early educator.

# Fostering Growth through More Nurturing Environments

Educators identified that coaching contributed to positive changes in the ELC environment. Importantly, they described how enhancing their teaching practices led to the development of more nurturing learning environments that fostered children's social-emotional skills. Sue described how the experience of coaching has made her more mindful in her teaching practice, "It's given me the opportunity to watch what I do and become more mindful of my practice and the way that I plan, the way that I communicate with the children, why we do what we do..." Bridget described how coaching reduced the "chaos" and contributed to a more "peaceful" and "inclusive" classroom. Educators' not only described a reduction in children's challenging behaviours, but also an increase in children's ability to participate in the classroom and develop meaningful relationships with their peers.

Educators' perceptions of the impact of coaching are aligned with recent findings from the literature. For example, in a quasi-experimental pre-post design study, Conners-Burrow and colleagues (2017) found that after coaching, early educators implementing the *PM* were observed to engage in more sensitive and nurturing caregiving (e.g., listening attentively) and incorporated more social-emotional practices into their teaching (e.g., labelling feelings and facilitating problem-solving). As described previously, Educators in the current study reflected how engaging in more sensitive and nurturing care strengthened the educator-child connection. Additionally, Educators described being more intentional in their use of practices to foster social-emotional development, as one Educator put it "really making sure that we're bringing that social-emotional growth to the forefront with the kids and being really intentional about it". Also consistent with Educators' experiences that coaching has contributed to "calmer" classrooms and "smooth transitions", Conners-Burrow and colleagues (2017) reported significant improvements to the classroom environment after coaching, such as increased use of visual-schedules and more structured transitions between activities. Furthermore, and consistent with the current participants' descriptions of child growth, Conners-Burrow and colleagues (2017) reported that coaching contributed to small but significant reductions in children's challenging behaviours and improvements in children's prosocial behaviours.

Hemmeter and colleagues (2016) reported similar results in a randomized controlled trial of the *PM* by exploring the impact of coaching on teachers' practices and child behaviours. More specifically, the authors reported that teachers who had received coaching fostered a more positive classroom climate by engaging in more nurturing and responsive educator-child interactions and using effective strategies to anticipate, prevent, and redirect problem behaviours in the classroom. Furthermore, children whose teachers were in the intervention group were rated higher on their observed social skills and exhibited fewer teacher-reported problem behaviours than children in the comparison group. Interestingly, though Hemmeter et al. (2016) found similar child and teacher outcomes, the authors noted that the teacher practice differences (i.e., between the coached and uncoached educators) increased over time. This is in line with PD literature and the current study findings in that changing teachers' practices is a process that occurs incrementally over time and emphasizes that effective implementation of evidence-based practices in ELC settings is not achieved through one-shot training.

Conners-Burrow et al (2017) and Hemmeter et al (2016) provide strong evidence of the effectiveness of coaching to improve Educators' implementation of the *PM*. A host of research on other practices and programs in ELC (e.g., Classroom Links to Literacy, Powell, Diamond et al (2010); Teaching Through Interactions, Hamre et al (2012); My Teaching Partner, Ansari & Pianta, 2018) have included coaching as an element of implementation support. Findings from

this research, in general, indicate that these programs have had a "positive and sizable impact on teachers' instructional practice and interactions with children" (Downer, 2013, p. 159). In concert with the findings from the present research, coaching emerges as an increasingly important component for fostering growth in Educators who strive to create more nurturing environments for children.

#### **Room to Grow**

Although Educators identified the many positive ways that coaching impacted their practices and their ELC centre, they also identified areas in which they felt there was still room to grow. Two areas that were reiterated by the Educators were: reaching families and peer coaching.

Educators perceived that coaching increased their confidence and ability to engage families, yet most recognized the importance of family engagement and were still seeking ways to transfer knowledge of social-emotional development to families. As Liz described it,

I think that part of what makes it hard is the families not really knowing or having that understanding of what social-emotional development is and how it impacts their children.

It's kind of hard to explain that to them, like when they haven't heard of it before. Liz's struggle to engage families in understanding social-emotional development is a concern that extends beyond the ELC. In 2013, the Alberta Centre for Child, Family and Community Research conducted the Provincial Benchmark Survey to determine how much adult Albertans knew about child development. Of the 1,451 randomly selected adults who completed the telephone interview, findings revealed that while there was a general appreciation of the importance of the 'early years' for lifelong learning development and some understanding of how to support child development. There were important gaps in knowledge of when children achieve specific developmental milestones. Notably, although respondents expressed confidence in their ability to parent, the majority incorrectly answered questions about emotional development (84 % incorrect) and social development (89% incorrect). The report concludes with a recommendation, that there is a "need for the creation of an overarching framework that provides strategic direction and integration of supports.... that support families and children's healthy start" (Pujadas Botey et al., 2014, p.6).

Educators also expressed frustrations with how parents' lack of, or slow, responding impaired their ability to adequately support their children. Engaging families is a top concern for many educators. There is strong and steadily growing evidence that families can improve their children's academic performance in school and have a major impact on attendance and behaviour. Children at risk of failure or poor performance profit from the extra support that their engaged families and communities provide. Evidence is clear that students benefit when educators support parents in helping their children at home and in guiding their development (Henderson & Mapp, 2002; Ma et al., 2016). Not only do the children benefit but parents' perceptions of the ELC centre are also enhanced. An exploration of family-school partnerships in the early years found that the more parents and educators connect, the greater parents' perception of support and "educational value" attributed to the day-care experience and the stronger the parent-teacher relationship (Pirchio et al., 2013). Although the importance of family engagement in ELC settings is well established, strengthening the educator-parent relationship remains a challenge. In a recent study, although early educators reported an increase in their teaching skills and their confidence and a reduction in child behavioural concerns, they reported little change in their abilities to engage families after coaching (Arthur-Kelly, et al., 2017). Continued efforts to

understand the unique and contextual factors that impact family engagement in ELC settings will provide valuable insight with which to inform coaching practices in the future.

Some of the Educators who had been involved with ASaP for a few years, identified another area in which they felt there was still room to grow - understanding how to peer coach, or transfer their new skills on to their coworkers. Sue describes how even after four years of being coached, she still feels she hasn't "figured out" how to support the adults in her learning environment. Peer- coaching, although it was introduced as a phenomenon as early as the 1980s (Joyce & Showers, 1980) is described as an "onsite dimension of staff development...[where peers]...who shared aspects of teaching, planned together, and pooled their experiences and practiced new skills and strategies [together]" (Showers & Joyce, 1996, p. 14). Bruce Joyce and Beverly Showers were staff development consultants and conducted several minor research reports (e.g., Baker & Showers, 1984; Joyce & Showers, 1980) demonstrating the utility, potential to realize school-wide improvement efforts, and impact of peer coaching. However, limited empirical evidence of its effectiveness has been conducted recently, and none in early education settings. The paucity of recent research examining the merits or process of peercoaching in contemporary ELC settings highlight future research needs in early education. One thing is evident from the early literature on peer-coaching (i.e., Showers & Joyce, 1996) and in the coaching experiences described in the present study - implementing peer-coaching is not a simple matter. Not unlike coaching, peer-coaching requires considerable logistical planning and a supportive administration to ensure educators have the time, training, and resources required to carry out peer-coaching activities (Showers & Joyce, 1996; Wong & Nicotera, 2003). If the proper supports, or 'drivers', are not in place then early educators will undoubtedly confront significant obstacles and barriers in the implementation of effective peer-coaching. To conclude,

although peer-coaching seems like a viable and appropriate progression from coaching, it is important to recognize it is essentially another ongoing PD delivery format and will therefore require careful planning, organization, and support in its implementation.

#### Limitations

The present study employed the basic qualitative methodology to explore the unique experiences of early educators being coached in the implementation of an evidence-based framework in ELC. It was situated within a larger study and is a collaboration with the community organization *GRIT*. The nature of the study context poses several limitations. First, the findings may be reflective of early educators' broader participation in the *ASaP* program, a PD initiative that employs multiple formats of PD integratively, and is not limited to coaching alone. Second, because this was a community-based research project, some of the questions within the interview protocol (Appendix B) reflected the interests of the community partner more than the focus of the study. Third, although the researcher took steps to ensure participants understood the limits of confidentiality, the collaborative relationship between the researcher and *GRIT* may have resulted in participants censoring their responses in efforts to preserve the nascent relationships they were forming with *GRIT* and their respective *ASaP* coach.

Purposeful sampling was used to ensure the data reflected the experiences of early educators being coached in ELC. Additionally, the sample size of the study was small. Therefore, the findings from this study are not suitable for generalization but rather serve to provide preliminary insight into early educators' experiences being coached from which to guide future investigations. Furthermore, participation in the study was voluntary and interviews were conducted at the Educator's respective centre during work. Due to the volunteer nature of participation, the study is susceptible to volunteer bias in that those educators who chose to participate may possess characteristics that make them systematically different from the target population of early educators (Jordan, et al., 2013). It is also possible that as the interviews were conducted during the workday and required the availability of a quiet room and staff coverage, the participants may be representative of early educators with access to supportive administrations. Additionally, although conducting the interviews at the Educators' place of work during the workday alleviated some barriers to participation (e.g., scheduling, transportation, etc.) it also introduced a sense of hurriedness to the interview process due to the accommodations and adjustments being made in order for the Educator to participate in the study.

Qualitative research relies heavily on the researcher's subjective interpretation of participant experiences. Although the researcher employed strategies to reduce the impact of personal biases in data analysis and interpretation, it is impossible to remove biases and assumptions completely. It is important to recognize that the researchers' personal experiences and beliefs will have influenced interpretations of the data (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Member checking is a process in which the researcher seeks participant feedback on the preliminary findings and interpretations (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Member checking enables the researcher to rule out misinterpretations and identify biases in data analysis, it was not used within this study and may pose a limitation on the present findings.

#### **Directions for Future Research**

Given the findings of this study, multiple directions for future research are proposed in order to further our understanding of coaching in ELC. Within the theme Building Connection, Educators described how parents' perceptions of them shifted from "babysitters" to "childcare professionals". The author proposed that this enhanced professional identity through coaching is in line with Deci and Ryan's (1985) theory of self-determination, in that identity is formed when an individual's psychological needs of competence, autonomy, and relatedness are met. Further research exploring the relationship between coaching and professional identity and the extent to which coaching meets the learner's needs of autonomy, competence, and relatedness may serve to address the negative and potentially limiting self-perceptions of early childhood professionals.

The importance of family involvement and the educator-parent relationships in ELC has been well established in the literature and in practice. While Educators in the present research described how coaching in the *PM* resulted in improvements with family engagement, they were clear that more work is needed in this area. These findings are consistent with research and emphasize the need for further exploration into the educator-parent relationship and the nature of family engagement in ELC as a whole. Research exploring how societal and contextual factors may create barriers to developing and strengthening the educator-parent relationship can serve to inform and enhance coaching practices targeting family involvement.

Best practices PD literature indicate that PD activities are most effective when they consist of ongoing and continuous support sustained over time. Given that the findings within this study suggest that change in early educator practices is a process that occurs gradually over time, it is clear that ongoing and continuous support such as coaching is not only beneficial but essential to affect change. Yet one-shot training practices are often preferred in ECL settings, due to the lower cost associated. Peer-coaching may be a more financially viable and sustainable approach to PD while still ensuring an ongoing and continuous delivery format. However, findings in the present study suggest that although Educators' see a place for peer-coaching in ELC, they did not yet feel they had obtained the skills or knowledge required to implement it. This is not surprising given that peer-coaching, not unlike coaching, requires significant support

and resources in place for effective implementation. The practice of peer-coaching in ELC settings is not yet well-defined and few studies have examined its effectiveness. Further research into peer-coaching in ELC settings would contribute to a greater understanding as to whether it is a viable and effective PD practice to enhance early educators' skills and the early learning environment as a whole.

#### **Implications for Practice**

The findings of this study emphasize that coaching is a process that occurs over time as learners (i.e., Educators) gradually "open up to coaching". Given this finding, it could be beneficial for coaches to have an understanding of this process and the Stages of Change framework described by Prochaska and Clemente's (1982). Progress, especially in the early stages of coaching, should not be measured solely by a change in educator practices but by the educators' progression from one stage to the next - moving from resisting change to goal setting and integrating new skills into current practice. Ignoring or not recognizing the Educator's readiness for change, may not only slow the rate of progress towards meaningful change but also have detrimental impacts on the educator-coach relationship and on the coaching process as a whole.

Positive performance feedback was emphasized by the Educators as vital to not only their skill development but to their motivation to change. Positive performance-based feedback has been demonstrated as an evidence-based practice to affect change in behaviour (Hattie & Timperley, 2007) and is linked to the development of intrinsic motivation (Badami, et al., 2011)), a key ingredient in adult learning (Knowles, 1984). It is evident that positive performance-based feedback is effective, however, it may be even more important in the early stages of coaching in which intrinsic motivation has not yet been established. Although Educators' described coaching as a gradual 'opening up' process, it is important that we do not neglect the role of organizational components and contextual factors within this personal 'opening up' process. Even if coaches have 'opened up' to coaching and are at the action stage of change, efforts towards action may be hindered or thwarted entirely if the appropriate organizational adjustments have not been made to ensure the environment is a hospitable setting for change to take place. Although it may be tempting to hit the ground running with coaching, the current findings emphasise the importance of ensuring the appropriate organizational drivers are in place to support the coaching process.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to provide a deeper understanding of the experience and perceived impact of coaching in ELC. Consistent with the transactional view of development (Sameroff & McKenzie, 2003), the findings suggest coaching is a dynamic process that evolves over time. This dynamic process is impacted not only by the changing characteristics of the educator as they progress through the stages of change but also by the organisational and contextual factors of the ELC environment. The findings of this study support and add to previous research on coaching in ELC and suggest that early educators view coaching as an effective PD practice. Educators reflected that coaching developed and strengthened their relationships with their coach, colleagues, families, and the children in their care, as well as enhanced their sense of competency as childcare professionals. Furthermore, Educators emphasised coaching had meaningful impacts on the ELC setting as a whole through enhancing their teaching practices to support children's development. Educators identified a need for additional support in their abilities to engage families and implement peer-coaching. Overall, the findings of this study support coaching as a form of PD to enhance teacher-practices in ELC and serve to provide insight into the process of coaching as it is experienced through the lens of early educators.

#### References

- Albritton, K., Truscott, S. D., & Terry, N. P. (2018). Exceptional professional learning for Rti implementation in early childhood settings. *Contemporary School Psychology*, 22(4), 401-412.
- Alkon, A., Ramler, M., & MacLennan, K. (2003). Evaluation of mental health consultation in child care centers. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 31(2), 91-99. doi:ECEJ.0000005307.00142.3c
- Ansari, A., & Pianta, R. C. (2018). Effects of an early childhood educator coaching intervention on preschoolers: The role of classroom age composition. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 44, 101-113. Retrieved from: <a href="https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1016/j.ecresq.2018.03.001">https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1016/j.ecresq.2018.03.001</a>
- Arthur-Kelly, M., Farrell, G., De Bortoli, T., Lyons, G., Hinchey, F., Ho, F. C., ... & Fairfax, W. (2017).
  The reported effects of a systematic professional learning program on the knowledge, skills, and concerns of Australian early childhood educators who support young children displaying or at risk of challenging behaviours. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education,* 64(2), 131-149. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2016.1181258
- Artman-Meeker, K. M., & Hemmeter, M. L. (2013). Effects of training and feedback on teachers' use of classroom preventive practices. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 33(2), 112-123. doi:10.1177/0271121412447115
- Artman-Meeker, K., Hemmeter, M. L., & Snyder, P. (2014). Effects of distance coaching on teachers' use of pyramid model practices. *Infants & Young Children*, 27(4), 325-344.doi:10.1097/IYC.000000000000016
- Artman-Meeker, K., Fettig, A., Barton, E. E., Penney, A., & Zeng, S. (2015). Applying an evidencebased framework to the early childhood coaching literature. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 35(3), 183-196.

- Barton, E. E., Chen, C., Pribble, L., Pomes, M., & Kim, Y. (2013). Coaching preservice teachers to teach play skills to children with disabilities. *Teacher Education and Special Education: The Journal of the Teacher Education Division of the Council for Exceptional Children, 36*(4), 330-349. doi:10.1177/0888406413505113
- Birman, B. F., Desimone, L., Porter, A. C., & Garet, M. S. (2000). Designing professional development that works. *Educational leadership*, 57(8), 28-33.
- Campbell, S. B. (1995). Behavior problems in preschool children: A review of recent research. *Journal of child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *36*(1), 113-149.
- Centre on the Developing Child at Harvard University (2016). From best practices to breakthrough impacts: A science-based approach to building a more promising future for young children and families. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.developingchild.harvard.edu">http://www.developingchild.harvard.edu</a>
- Champion, L. A., Goodall, G., & Rutter, M. (1995). Behaviour problems in childhood and stressors in early adult life. I. A 20 year follow-up of London school children. *Psychological medicine*, 25(2), 231-246.
- Badami, R., VaezMousavi, M., Wulf, G., & Namazizadeh, M. (2011). Feedback after good versus poor trials affects intrinsic motivation. *Research quarterly for exercise and sport*, 82(2), 360-364.
- Baker, R. G., & Showers, B. (1984). The Effects of a Coaching Strategy on Teachers' Transfer to Classroom Practice: A Six-Month Followup.". American Educational Research Association, New Orleans.
- Barton, E. E., Chen, C., Pribble, L., Pomes, M., & Kim, Y. (2013). Coaching preservice teachers to teach play skills to children with disabilities. *Teacher Education and Special Education: The Journal of the Teacher Education Division of the Council for Exceptional Children, 36*(4), 330-349. doi:10.1177/0888406413505113

- Bierman, K.L., Domitrovich, C.E., Nix, R.L., Gest, S.D., Welsh, J.A.,...Gill, S. (2008). Promoting academic and social-emotional school readiness: The Head Start REDI program. Child Development, 79, 1802-1817.
- Bransford, J. D., Brown, A. L., & Cocking, R. R. (2000). *How people learn* (Vol. 11). Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Broekhuizen, M. L., Mokrova, I. L., Burchinal, M. R., & Garrett-Peters, P. T. (2016). Classroom quality at pre-kindergarten and kindergarten and children's social skills and behavior problems. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 36, 212-222. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2016.01.005
- Buysse, V., Winton, P. J., & Rous, B. (2009). Reaching consensus on a definition of professional development for the early childhood field. *Topics in early childhood special education*, 28(4), 235-243.
- Canadian Institute for Child Health. (2014). Children Vulnerable in Areas of Early Development: A Determinant of Child Health. *CIHI*. Ottawa, ON. https://secure.cihi.ca/free\_products/Children\_Vulnerable\_in\_Areas\_of\_Early\_Development\_EN. pdf -
- Guide, C. A. S. E. L. (2015). Effective Social and Emotional Learning Programs. Middle and High School edition.
- Casey, B. J., Tottenham, N., Liston, C., & Durston, S. (2005). Imaging the developing brain: what have we learned about cognitive development?. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, *9*(3), 104-110.
- Centre for the Developing Child From best practices to breakthrough impacts: A science-based approach to building a more promising future for young children and families (2016). *International Forum of Psychoanalysis*, *18*(2), 71-76. doi:10.1080/08037060802670616

- Clifford, R. M., Barbarin, O., Chang, F., Early, D., Bryant, D., Howes, C., ... & Pianta, R. (2005). What is pre-kindergarten? Characteristics of public pre-kindergarten programs. *Applied Developmental Science*, 9(3), 126-143.
- Conners-Burrow, N. A., Patrick, T., Kyzer, A., & McKelvey, L. (2017). A preliminary evaluation of REACH: Training early childhood teachers to support children's social and emotional development. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 45(2), 187-199.
- Corbin, J. M., & Strauss, A. L. (2008). Basics of qualitative research: techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory. 3e [ed.] / Los Angeles, [Calif.]: SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. 4th ed. Boston: Pearson.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing among Five Approaches (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M. E., & Gardner, M. (2017). Effective teacher professional development.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Human Behavior. New York, NY: Plenum. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-2271-7
- Denham, S. A., Bassett, H. H., Zinsser, K., & Wyatt, T. M. (2014). How preschoolers' social-emotional learning predicts their early school success: Developing theory-promoting, competency-based assessments. *Infant and Child Development*, 23(4), 426-454.
- Downer, J. (2013). Applying Lessons Learned from Evaluations of Model Early Care and Education
   Programs to Preparation for Effective Implementation at Scale. In T. Halle, A. Metz, & I.
   Martinez-Beck (Eds.), *Applying Implementation Science in Early Childhood Programs and Systems* (pp.157-169). Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

- Dunst, C. J., Trivette, C. M., & Raab, M. (2013). An implementation science framework for conceptualizing and operationalizing fidelity in early childhood intervention studies. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 35(2), 85-101. doi:10.1177/1053815113502235
- Fallon, L. M., Collier-Meek, M. A., Maggin, D. M., Sanetti, L. M., & Johnson, A. H. (2015). Is performance feedback for educators an evidence-based practice? A systematic review and evaluation based on single-case research. *Exceptional Children*, 81(2), 227-246.
- Fergusson, D. M., John Horwood, L., & Ridder, E. M. (2005). Show me the child at seven: the consequences of conduct problems in childhood for psychosocial functioning in adulthood. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry*, 46(8), 837-849.
- Fixsen, D. L., Naoom, S. F., Blase, K. A., Friedman, R. M., & Wallace, F. (2005). *Implementation research: A synthesis of the literature*. Tampa, FL: University of South Florida, Louis de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute, The National Implementation Research Network (FMHI Publication #231)
- Fox, L., Dunlap, G., Hemmeter, M. L., Joseph, G. E., & Strain, P. S. (2003). The teaching pyramid: A model for supporting social competence and preventing challenging behavior in young children. *Young Children*, 58(4), 48-52.
- Fox, L., Hemmeter, M., Snyder, P., Binder, D. P., & Clarke, S. (2011). Coaching early childhood special educators to implement a comprehensive model for promoting young children's social competence. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 31(3), 178. doi:10.1177/0271121411404440
- Halle, T.. Metz, A. & Martinez-Beck, I. (2013), Applying Implementation Science in Early Childhood Programs and Systems. Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

- Hamre, B. K., Pianta, R. C., Burchinal, M., Field, S., LoCasale-Crouch, J., Downer, J. T., ... & Scott-Little, C. (2012). A course on effective teacher-child interactions: Effects on teacher beliefs, knowledge, and observed practice. *American Educational Research Journal*, 49(1), 88-123.
- Hamre, B. K. (2014). Teachers' daily interactions with children: An essential ingredient in effective early childhood programs. *Child Development Perspectives*, 8(4), 223-230. doi:10.1111/cdep.12090
- Hattie, J., & Timperley, H. (2007). The power of feedback. *Review of educational research*, 77(1), 81-112.
- Heineke, S. F. (2013). Coaching discourse: Supporting teachers' professional learning. *The Elementary School Journal*, *113*(3), 409-433.
- Hemmeter, M. L., Snyder, P. A., Fox, L., & Algina, J. (2016). Evaluating the implementation of the pyramid model for promoting social-emotional competence in early childhood classrooms.
  Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, doi:10.1177/0271121416653386
- Hemmeter, M. L., Fox, L., & Snyder, P. (2013). A tiered model for promoting social-emotional competence and addressing challenging behavior. In V. Buysse & E. Peisner-Feinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of response to intervention in early childhood* (pp. 85–101). Baltimore, MD: Brookes.
- Henderson, A. T. & Mapp, K. L. (2002). A New Wave of Evidence: The Impact of School, Family, and Community Connections on Student Achievement. Annual Synthesis, Southwest Educational Development Lab., Austin, TX.
- Howes, C., Burchinal, M., Pianta, R., Bryant, D., Early, D., Clifford, R., & Barbarin, O. (2008). Ready to learn? Children's pre-academic achievement in pre-kindergarten programs. *Early childhood research quarterly*, 23(1), 27-50.

- Hamre, B. K., Pianta, R. C., Burchinal, M., Field, S., LoCasale-Crouch, J., Downer, J. T., ... & Scott-Little, C. (2012). A course on effective teacher-child interactions: Effects on teacher beliefs, knowledge, and observed practice. *American Educational Research Journal*, 49(1), 88-123.
- Humphrey, N., Kalambouka, A., Wigelsworth, M., Lendrum, A., Deighton, J., & Wolpert, M. (2011).
   Measures of social and emotional skills for children and young people: A systematic review.
   *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 71(4), 617-637.
- Izard, C. E. (2011). Forms and functions of emotions: Matters of emotion–cognition interactions. *Emotion Review*, *3*(4), 371-378.
- Jones, S. M., & Bouffard, S. M. (2012). Social and Emotional Learning in Schools: From Programs to Strategies and commentaries. *Social policy report, 26*(4), 1-33. doi: 10.1177/0031721714553405
- Jones, D. E., Greenberg, M., & Crowley, M. (2015). Early social-emotional functioning and public health: The relationship between kindergarten social competence and future wellness. *American journal of public health*, 105(11), 2283-2290.
- Jordan, S., Watkins, A., Storey, M., Allen, S. J., Brooks, C. J., Garaiova, I., Heaven, M. L., Jones, R., Plummer, S. F., Russell, I. T., Thornton, C. A., & Morgan, G. (2013). Volunteer bias in recruitment, retention, and blood sample donation in a randomised controlled trial involving mothers and their children at six months and two years: a longitudinal analysis. *PLoS One*, 8(7), e67912. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0067912</u>
- Showers, B., & Joyce, B. (1980). Improving in-service training: messages of research. *Educational Leadership*, *37*(5), 379-385.
- Joyce, B. R, & Showers, B. (2002). Student achievement through staff development. 3rd ed. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

- Knowles, M. S. (1980). The modern practice of adult education: from pedagogy to andragogy. (Rev. ed). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Cambridge Adult Education, Prentice Hall Regents.
- Knowles, M. S. (1984). Andragogy In Action: Applying Modern Principles Of Adult Learning (The Jossey-Bass Higher Education Series). Adult Learning (the Jossey-Bass Higher Education Series), 105, 29994.
- Kruglaya, I. (2014). Impact findings from the head start CARES demonstration: National evaluation of three approaches to improving preschoolers' social and emotional competence. *Targeted News Service*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.mdrc.org/publication/impact-findings-head-start-caresdemonstration</u>
- Lehrl, S., Kluczniok, K., & Rossbach, H. G. (2016). Longer-term associations of preschool education: The predictive role of preschool quality for the development of mathematical skills through elementary school. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *36*, 475-488.

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills, Calif: Sage Publications.

- Luyckx, K., Vansteenkiste, M., Goossens, L., & Duriez, B. (2009). Basic need satisfaction and identity formation: Bridging self-determination theory and process-oriented identity research. *Journal of counseling psychology*, 56(2), 276. Retrieved from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015349</u>
- Ma, X., Shen, J., Krenn, H. Y., Hu, S., & Yuan, J. (2016). A meta-analysis of the relationship between learning outcomes and parental involvement during early childhood education and early elementary education. *Educational Psychology Review*, 28(4), 771-801.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2006). Designing qualitative research. Thousands Oaks, Calif: Sage Publications.

- MacCann, C., Jiang, Y., Brown, L. E., Double, K. S., Bucich, M., & Minbashian, A. (2020). Emotional intelligence predicts academic performance: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 146(2), 150.
- McConnaughy, E. A., Prochaska, J. O., & Velicer, W. F. (1983). Stages of change in psychotherapy: Measurement and sample profiles. Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice, 20(3), 368.
   DOI: 10.1037//0022-006X.51.3.390
- McLeod, J. D., & Kaiser, K. (2004). Childhood emotional and behavioral problems and educational attainment. *American sociological review*, *69*(5), 636-658.
- Merriam, S. B., Caffarella, R. S., & Baumgartner, L. (2007). Self-directed learning. *Learning in adulthood*, 105-129.
- Merriam, S. B., & Grenier, R. S. (2019). *Qualitative research in practice : examples for discussion and analysis.* Second edition.
- Merriam, S. B. & Baumgartner, L. M. (2020). Learning in adulthood: a comprehensive guide (4th Ed.) Hoboken, NJ: Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation.
- Metz, A. J., Blase, K., & Bowie, L. (2007). Implementing evidence-based practices: Six "drivers" of success. *Research-to-Results Brief*. Retrieved from <u>http://incredibleyears.com/wpcontent/uploads/Child-Trends\_6-Success-Drivers\_10-07.pdf</u>
- Metz, A., & Bartley, L. (2012). Active implementation frameworks for program success. *Zero to Three, 32*(4), 11-18. Retrieved from:

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5279554ce4b0eea3e5bdac41/t/5bfd5e1a2b6a28d7b076a43 7/1543331355258/1a\_NIRN\_ImpArticle.pdf

- Moffitt, T. E., Arseneault, L., Belsky, D., Dickson, N., Hancox, R. J., Harrington, H., ... & Sears, M. R.
  (2011). A gradient of childhood self-control predicts health, wealth, and public safety. *Proceedings of the national Academy of Sciences*, 108(7), 2693-2698.
- Morgan, J., Robinson, D., & Aldridge, J. (2002). Parenting stress and externalizing child behavior. Social Work Diagnosis in Contemporary Practice, 61-67.
- National Association for the Education of Young Children and the National Association of Child Care Resource and Referral Agencies. (2012). Early childhood education professional development: Training and technical assistance glossary. Washington, DC.
- National Centre for Pyramid Model Innovations. (n.d.a). *Pyramid model overview*. Challenging behaviour. https://challengingbehavior.cbcs.usf.edu/Pyramid/overview/index.html
- National Centre for Pyramid Model Innovations. (n.d.b). *Implementation*. Challenging behaviour. https://challengingbehavior.cbcs.usf.edu/Implementation/coach.html
- National Institute of Child, & Network, Human Development (NICHD) Early Child Care Research. (2000). Characteristics and quality of child care for toddlers and preschoolers. *Applied Developmental Science*, 4(3), 116-135. doi:10.1207/S1532480XADS0403\_2
- National Professional Development Center on Inclusion (2008). What do we mean by professional development in the early childhood field? Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina, FPG, Child Development Institute, Author.
- Nix, R. L., Bierman, K. L., Heinrichs, B. S., Gest, S. D., Welsh, J. A., & Domitrovich, C. E. (2016). The randomized controlled trial of head start REDI: Sustained effects on developmental trajectories of social-emotional functioning. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 84(4), 310-322. doi:10.1037/a0039937

- Norcross, J. C., Krebs, P. M., & Prochaska, J. O. (2011). Stages of change. Journal of clinical psychology, 67(2), 143-154.
- Oberle, E., Domitrovich, C. E., Meyers, D. C., & Weissberg, R. P. (2016). Establishing systemic social and emotional learning approaches in schools: A framework for schoolwide implementation. Cambridge Journal of Education, 46(3), 277-297.
- Palsha, S. A., & Wesley, P. W. (1998). Improving quality in early childhood environments through onsite consultation. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 18(4), 243-253.
- Pfefferbaum, A., Mathalon, D. H., Sullivan, E. V., Rawles, J. M., Zipursky, R. B., & Lim, K. O. (1994).
  A quantitative magnetic resonance imaging study of changes in brain morphology from infancy to late adulthood. Archives of neurology, 51(9), 874-887.
- Phillips, D. A., Gormley, W. T., & Lowenstein, A. E. (2009). Inside the pre-kindergarten door: Classroom climate and instructional time allocation in Tulsa's pre-K programs. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 24(3), 213-228.
- Pianta, R., Howes, C., Burchinal, M., Bryant, D., Clifford, R. M., Early, D. M., & Barbarin, O. (2005).
  Features of pre-kindergarten programs, classrooms, and teachers: Prediction of observed
  classroom quality and teacher-child interactions. Applied Developmental Science, 9(3), 144-159.
  doi: 10.1207/s1532480xads0903 2.
- Pianta R., & Hamre, B. (2020). Improving quality and impact through workforce development and implementation systems. In Foundation for Child Development (pp. 109 130), *Getting it Right:* Using Implementation Research to Improve Outcomes in Early Care and Education. Foundation for Child Development.New York, NY. Retrieved from: <a href="https://www.fcd-us.org/assets/2020/06/GettingitRight\_UsingImplementationResearchtoImproveOutcomesinECE\_us.org/assets/2020/06/GettingitRight\_UsingImplementationResearchtoImproveOutcomesinECE\_us.org/assets/2020/06/GettingitRight\_UsingImplementationResearchtoImproveOutcomesinECE\_us.org/assets/2020/06/GettingitRight\_UsingImplementationResearchtoImproveOutcomesinECE\_us.org/assets/2020/06/GettingitRight\_UsingImplementationResearchtoImproveOutcomesinECE\_usingImplementationResearchtoImproveOutcomes

2020.pdf

- Pirchio, S., Tritrini, C., Passiatore, Y., & Taeschner, T. (2013). The Role of the Relationship between Parents and Educators for Child Behaviour and Wellbeing. *International Journal about Parents in Education*, 7(2).
- Powell, D. R., Diamond, K. E., Burchinal, M. R., & Koehler, M. J. (2010). Effects of an early literacy professional development intervention on head start teachers and children. *Journal of educational psychology*, 102(2), 299.
- Powell, D. R., & Diamond, K. E. (2013). Studying the implementation of coaching-based professional development. In T. Halle, A. Metz, & I. Martinez-Beck (Eds.), *Applying Implementation Science in Early Childhood Programs and Systems* (pp.97-116). Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Probst, B., & Berenson, L. (2014). The double arrow: How qualitative social work researchers use reflexivity. *Qualitative Social Work, 13*(6), 813–827. doi:10.1177/1473325013506248
- Prochaska, J. O., Redding, C. A., & Evers, K. E. (2015). The transtheoretical model and stages of change. *Health behavior: Theory, research, and practice, 97.*
- Pujadas Botey, A., Bukutu, C., Vinturache, A., Gibbard, B., MacLellan, K., Bayrampour, H., Slater, D.,
  Breitkreuz, R., Sakaluk-Moody, L., Lynch, S., Hanson, T. & Tough, S. (2014). What Albertans
  Know About Child Development: The 2013 Provincial Benchmark Survey. Technical Report.
  Calgary: Alberta Centre for Child, Family and Community Research.
- Raver, C.C., Jones, A.S., Li-Grining, C.P., Metzger, M., Smallwood, K., & Sardin, L. (2008).Improving preschool sclassroom processes: Preliminary findings of a randomized in Head Start settings. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 23, 10-26.
- Robson, D. A., Allen, M. S., & Howard, S. J. (2020). Self-regulation in childhood as a predictor of future outcomes: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological bulletin*, 146(4), 324.

- Rose-Krasnor, L. (1997). The nature of social competence: A theoretical review. *Social development,* 6(1), 111-135.
- Rush, D. D., & Shelden, M. L. (2006). Coaching practices rating scale for assessing adherence to evidence-based early childhood intervention practices. *Case Tools*, 2(2), 1-7.
- Sameroff, A. J., & Mackenzie, M. J. (2003). Research strategies for capturing transactional models of development: The limits of the possible. *Development and psychopathology*, 15(3), 613-640.
- Sameroff, A. (2010). A unified theory of development: A dialectic integration of nature and nurture. *Child development*, *81*(1), 6-22.
- Schachter, R. E., Gerde, H. K., & Hatton-Bowers, H. (2019). Guidelines for Selecting Professional
   Development for Early Childhood Teachers. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 47(4), 395-408.
- Schindler, H. S., Kholoptseva, J., Oh, S. S., Yoshikawa, H., Duncan, G. J., Magnuson, K. A.,
  &Shonkoff, J. P. (2015). Maximizing the potential of early childhood education to prevent externalizing behavior problems: A meta-analysis. Journal Of School Psychology, 53(3), 243-263. doi:10.1016/j.jsp.2015.04.001
- Schmitt, S. A., Pratt, M. E., Korucu, I., Napoli, A. R., & Schmerold, K. L. (2018). Preschool classroom quality and social-emotional functioning: Findings across geographic regions. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 43, 11-22.
- Sheridan, S. M., Knoche, L.L., Edwards, C.P., Boviard, J. A., & Kupzyk, K.A. (2010). Parent engagement and school readiness: Effects of the Getting Ready intervention on preschool children's social-emotional competencies. Early Education and Development, 21, 125 -156.

Showers, B., & Joyce, B. (1996). The evolution of peer coaching. Educational leadership, 53, 12-16.

- Snyder, P. A., Hemmeter, M. L., & Fox, L. (2015). Supporting implementation of evidence-based practices through practice-based coaching. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, doi:10.1177/0271121415594925
- State, T. M., Simonsen, B., Hirn, R. G., & Wills, H. (2019). Bridging the research-to-practice gap through effective professional development for teachers working with students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 44(2), 107-116.
- Statistics Canada. (2012, October 18). Selected tables on families in canada. Retrieved from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/89-650-x/89-650-x2012001-eng.pdf?st=8nNldq3F</u>
- Strain, P. S., & Bovey, E. H. (2011). Randomized controlled trial of the LEAP model of early intervention for young children with autism spectrum disorders. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 0271121411408740. doi: 10.1177/0271121411408740
- Thompson, M. A., & Deis, M. (2004). Andragogy for adult learners in higher education. In *Proceedings* of the Academy of Accounting and Financial Studies (Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 107-112).
- Thompson, R. A., & Nelson, C. A. (2001). Developmental science and the media: Early brain development. *American Psychologist*, *56*(1), 5–15. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.56.1.5
- Tierney, A. L., & Nelson III, C. A. (2009). Brain development and the role of experience in the early years. *Zero to three*, *30*(2), 9.
- Wong, K., & Nicotera, A. (2003). Enhancing Teacher Quality: Peer Coaching as a Professional Development Strategy. A Preliminary Synthesis of the Literature.

## Appendix A

### **Research Participation Consent Form**

## CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH Capacity Building to Bolster Wellbeing Among Early Childhood Educators and the Children they Support in Alberta University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta

## Dear ASaP Early Learning and Care Educator:

We would like to invite you to participate in a research study conducted by Dr. Veronica Smith, Dr. Xiaozhou Zhang, and Vanessa Oslie from the University of Alberta, Department of Educational Psychology. You are being asked to participate because of your involvement in the Access, Supports, and Participation Continuum Project (ASaP) offered to you by the coaches from Getting Ready for Inclusion Today (GRIT).

## PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The research aims to examine whether coaching supports offered by ASaP can 1) promote wellbeing and enhanced confidence in teaching among Early Childhood Educators; and 2) improve the quality the social and emotional environments in which young children learn.

## PROCEDURES

Early Childhood Educators who participate in this study will be asked to engage in one interview (maximum 60 minutes) over the next 2 months

<u>Interview:</u> Educators will respond to questions about their experiences with the ASaP supports in regard to how their own social emotional knowledge and skills may have been impacted by the ASaP Project. In addition, they will be asked to reflect on how the project may have impacted children and families who attend their Early Learning and Care Centre. These responses will be collected and summarized by the researchers to ensure anonymity and confidentiality. We will conduct the interviews in a place or on the phone convenient to the educators. It will take around 30 mins to complete the whole process.

## POTENTIAL RISKS AND DISCOMFORTS

Participating in this project involves only minimal risk. Some educators may feel uncomfortable when they are interviewed and recorded, however we will make every effort to create a comfortable environment. In addition, if any question asked in the data collection processes (i.e., survey, interview and coaching reflection) is distressing to you, you may choose not to answer. We would like to emphasize the collaborative nature of this project, as such we aim to be responsive to the unique context and needs of all those involved and will be openly seeking ongoing feedback and informed consent.

## POTENTIAL BENEFITS TO SUBJECTS AND/OR SOCIETY

There may not be any direct benefits to participants. However, participating in this project may potentially be beneficial as the ultimate goal of this research is to reveal how coaching can best be utilized to contribute to positive outcomes. Therefore, educators may eventually receive better coaching instruction regarding their emotional and social competence development.

## PAYMENT FOR YOUR TIME

There is no payment given by the University of Alberta for participating in this study.

### ANONYMITY and CONFIDENTIALITY

Only researchers associated with the project will have access to your responses to the questionnaire, audio recording, transcripts, and coaching reflective forms. Responses made by individual participants on all the responses will remain confidential and anonymous, and your name will not appear on the questionnaire, interview note and coaching reflective form. All precautions will be made to protect the anonymity of all participants.

Regarding to the survey, no other identifying information will be captured, unless you choose to provide it. If you agree to participate in the second time survey, we will ask your email address in order to match your data with the baseline survey. At the end of the second time survey, you will be asked if you would like to participate in the third time survey and we will ask you for your email address again. If you agree to participate in the third time survey, we will ask your email address in order to match your data with the baseline and second time survey. When all times of the data were matched, we will have a Master List linking participants' email address to code numbers and remove all the email information by Nov. 2017 (i.e., prior to the last point of data collection). All the files including identified information will be destroyed at the end of Feb 2018 when the project is completed.

In terms of the interview and coaching reflective form, no any identifying information will be captured. We will create pseudonyms names for each participant in the interview transcripts and a list of code numbers for each participant on the coaching reflective form.

The data will be securely stored by Dr. Veronica Smith for a minimum of five years as required by University of Alberta guidelines. The results of this study may be presented at scholarly conferences, university class lectures, or published in professional journals.

## PARTICIPATION AND WITHDRAWAL

Participation in any of the phases of this study is voluntary, if you so chose to participate; you may withdraw your participation at any time without consequences of any kind. You may also refuse to answer any questions throughout the study in any of the phases of data collection. Regarding to the data withdraw, participants who provided contact information (i.e.,email address) can contact the researchers and withdraw their data from the study up until November 2017 (i.e., prior to the last point of data collection). For other participants, data withdraw is not possible because their information is anonymous.

Incomplete data will not be withdrawn and still be collected and used in the data analysis. If participants want to withdraw this part of data, those who provided contact can contact the researcher and withdraw their data from the study up until November 2017 (i.e., prior to the last point of data collection). For other participants, data withdraw is not possible because their information is anonymous.

In addition, the researchers may withdraw you as well as your data from this research at their discretion if circumstances arise which warrant doing so.

## IDENTIFICATION OF INVESTIGATORS

If you have any questions or concerns about the research, please feel free to contact the primary investigator:

Veronica Smith, Ph.D., Xiaozhou (Zoey) Zhang, PhD. Vanessa Oslie

Associate Professor	Mitacs Post Doctoral Fellow	Master Student
University of Alberta	University of Alberta	University of Alberta
Department of Educational	Department of Educational	Department of Educational
Psychology	Psychology	Psychology
6-102 Education North	6-102 Education North	6-102 Education North
Edmonton, AB T6G 2G5	Edmonton, AB T6G 2G5	Edmonton, AB T6G 2G5
Tel: 780.492.7425	Tel: 780.710.8309	Email: oslie@ualberta.ca
email: vs2@ualberta.ca	email: xzhang15@ualberta.ca	

In addition, the plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines and approved by the Research Ethics Board (REB) at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, you can contact the Research Ethics Office at 780-492-2615.

#### FUTURE CONTACT

I would like to receive a copy of the completed study (please give email address or full address)

## STATEMENT OF INFORMED CONSENT

## I HAVE READ AND UNDERSTOOD THIS CONSENT FORM AND I AGREE TO PARTICIPATE IN THE STUDY.

Name (Print)

Signed Name

Date

#### **Appendix B**

#### **Interview Protocol: ASaP Educators**

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview. We are interested in your experiences participating in the *ASaP* Continuum Project. The interview will take about 30-40 minutes.

<u>Warm Up</u>

[have good markers/pens and blank paper available]

Which words or pictures come to mind when you think about *ASaP*? Spend approximately 5 minutes thinking about this and depicting your thoughts.

[after about 5 minutes – ask the educator to share what they have written or depicted on the paper]

#### **Coaching experiences**

1. What is it like to be coached?

Probe: Can you tell us about some of your experiences? Positive, negative or neutral

**2.** Could you tell me a little bit more about [probe aspects of coaching that may not have been addressed by the interviewee]

- a. Developing learning goals
- b. Implementing learning goals
- c. Monitoring learning goals

d. Being observed or coached in ratio in the Early Learning and Care (ELC) setting

#### e. Out of ratio de-brief time

3. Can you describe an experience where you felt coaching made a difference within your practices as an educator?

Probe: What do you feel most contributed to this success?

# 4. Can you describe an experience where you felt coaching may have had less of an impact on your practices as an educator?

*Probe: What do you feel most contributed to the coaching having less of an impact?* 

# 5. Can you tell me a little about your experience with the training delivered through the *ASaP* workshops?

Probe: Did you feel that you gained sufficient knowledge, skills, etc. in training?

*Probe: Is there something that you may have benefited from more of in regard to your training?* 

*Probe:* Is there something that you may have benefited from less of in regard to your training?

6. Now that you have some experience with being coached, what do you feel you would like more/or less of in regard to the coaching?

Probe: More?

Probe: Less?

7. The *ASaP* Continuum project aims to improve the skills and confidence of educators to support children's healthy social and emotional development. How might the project have impacted

- a. Your own Social and Emotional Competence?
- b. Your interactions with the children in care?
- c. Your practices with families?
- d. Your practices within your team?
- e. Your own confidence as an educator?

Probe: Could you provide some examples?

# 8. From your point of view, do you feel *ASaP* has provided you with enough or the right type of support to help all children participate?

*Probe: Can you tell me a little more about that? Probe: What might you need more of? Less of?* 

## Navigation support experiences

9. Have you had any experiences with a specific child that has had difficulty participating? Can you describe how you were supported in regard to this specific child? *Probe: What steps did you and your coach take to respond to the needs of the child?* 

Probe: What did you find the most beneficial in supporting this child? (Administration of the screening tool; follow-up recommendations including referral, and follow-up observations from multidisciplinary team)

Probe: Are you aware of the Navigational Flowchart?

10. How could *ASaP* improve around Navigational Supports?

11. Based on your experience with the *ASaP* Navigational Supports, were there improvements among children who were provided with additional strategies /supports? Could you provide some examples?

### **Family engagement**

12. How much of an impact do you believe *ASaP* training and coaching has had on your skills and confidence to engage families?

Probe: Could you provide some examples?

13. Are there some improvements or steps that you would like to see your centre take regarding family engagement to support social and emotional learning?

Probe: Could you provide some examples?

Thank you so much.